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Wessanen in brief

corporate profile
Koninklijke Wessanen nv is a multinational food corporation based in the Netherlands 
which operates in European, American and Canadian markets. At Wessanen we market, 
distribute and produce wellness consumer products that are natural, healthy and easy to 
prepare or indulgent. Knowledge of consumer trends and a clear emphasis on innovation 
form the basis for growth and continuity in all our companies.

mission
We create value by fulfilling the nutritional needs of consumers with a health and 
quality-conscious lifestyle.

corporate objectives
Autonomous growth of sales, structurally above market average, further strengthened 

      by acquisitions
Leadership in the wellness sector

strategic spearheads
Investment in strong brands
Expansion of the distribution network
Focus on product innovation

success factors
We consider several factors essential in successfully attaining our strategic ambitions. 
Entrepreneurship, value-based management and a coherent structure together enable us 
to meet our objectives.
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Financial highlights 
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise

net sales and income figures
   2002  2001     
     

net sales   2,829.6  3,967.9

ebita1    62.2  124.6
 as a percentage of net sales   2.2%  3.1%

Write-off erp-system including related costs   (23.6)  –
Amortization of goodwill   (9.2)  (4.3)
     
ebit 2   29.4  120.3

 as a percentage of net sales   1.0%  3.0%

Net income from ordinary activities before 
exceptional items and before amortization of goodwill  35.8  78.5

  as a percentage of net sales   1.3%  2.0%

Net ordinary income   11.3  74.2
 as a percentage of net sales   0.4%  1.9%

Extraordinary result after taxes   90.1  164.8
     
net income   101.4  239.0

 as a percentage of net sales   3.6%  6.0%

financing and investments
Shareholders’ equity as a percentage of total assets  51.0%  42.3%
ebitda3 - interest ratio   6.4  5.5
Cash flow from operating activities   51.3  103.6
Investments in property, plant and equipment  42.3  85.6
Net cash flow from acquisitions and divestments  149.6  605.4

personnel
Average number of employees   11,070  17,114
Employees outside the Netherlands   9,490  15,980

financial information per share (in euro)
Shareholders’ equity   8.66  7.01
Net income from ordinary activities before exceptional items
and before amortization of goodwill   0.51  0.94
Net income from ordinary activities   0.16  0.89
Net income   1.44  2.86
Diluted earnings   1.44  2.86
Dividend   0.58  0.58
Highest share price   10.30  14.77
Lowest share price   6.20  7.76
Share price as at December 31   6.60  10.00
Average number of shares outstanding, excl. treasury stock  70,311,728  83,560,391
Number of shares outstanding as at December 31  72,588,501  72,588,501

1  Operating result before amortization of goodwill and exceptional items
2  Operating result
3  Operating result before amortization of goodwill, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and before exceptional items
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Rick ThorneKoos KramerMac Zondervan

The wellness strategy is based on the consumer demand for 
high-quality, healthy and tasty food, which is easy to prepare. 
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general
The year 2002 proved a difficult one for Wessanen in which we were unable to meet 
expectations. This was largely due to the disappointing results of Tree of Life North 
America, our largest operation. However, other parts of Wessanen did record positive 
results, which contributed to the further development of our organization.

The sale of Leerdammer Company completed the divestment of the dairy activities. This 
last major divestment marks the end of a two-year transitional period for Wessanen. Now 
that we have sold off the dairy operations – which accounted for 40% of net sales in 2000 
– our operational portfolio is focused entirely on the wellness markets. Thanks to the pro-
ceeds from the sale of our dairy operations in 2002 and hence low debts, Wessanen’s 
healthy balance sheet was further strengthened.

The wellness strategy is based on the consumer demand for high-quality, healthy and 
tasty food, which is easy to prepare. The demand for these products continued to grow in 
2002. Despite the bleak economic climate in Europe and pressure on consumer spending, 
the operations of our European divisions showed satisfying sales growth. The improve-
ment in the ebita was due to autonomous growth, and the contribution of two uk compa-
nies, Nature’s Store and Kallo Foods, which we acquired in 2002.

Things worked out differently for our North American operations. Though the demand 
for healthy and natural food also increased in the usa in 2002, Tree of Life North America 
faced various operational problems, which adversely affected the operating result. First of 
all, focus on cost reductions by the retail sector in response to the difficult economic situ-
ation resulted in pressure on our prices and those of our suppliers. Furthermore, we lost 
two large customers in the summer of 2002. A new distribution deal with Wild Oats 
Markets, Inc., partly compensated for this loss. Though the resolute response to this oper-
ational challenge resulted in positive sales through Wild Oats in the second half of 2002 
and kept the turnover more or less stable, the change in product mix and the inevitable 
start-up issues had a negative impact on the operating result. In addition, the initial 
implementation of an Enterprise Resource Planning (erp) system in one of the regional 
distribution centers had a considerable negative effect on the daily operations and the 
results of this region. After assessing the situation, it was decided that the system would 
be substantially modified and partly written down.

The decrease in net sales from eur 4.0 billion in 2001 to eur 2.8 billion in 2002 is due 
mainly to the divestment of the American dairy operations and Golden Foods 
International in 2001 and the divestment of Leerdammer Company in December of 2002. 
The sales from the current operations (including 11 months of Leerdammer Company) 
showed a marginal decrease from eur 2.9 billion in 2001 to eur 2.8 billion in 2002, main-
ly as a result of the weakening of the us dollar in comparison with the euro. The ebita 
from the current activities before exceptionals decreased to eur 62.2 million (2001: eur 
89.1 million). Disappointing results in the second half of 2002 – particularly in the ebita 
of Tree of Life North America – prompted us to review expectations in August 2002 and in 
the second week of 2003. As there was no prospect of achieving the August expectations 
for 2003, to which Mac Zondervan had committed himself, Mr Zondervan announced his 
resignation as Chairman of the Executive Board. However, at the request of the Super-
visory Board, Mr Zondervan will not step down before a successor has been appointed.
Net income per share from ordinary activities before exceptional items and amortization 
of goodwill are eur 0.51 (2001: eur 0.94). After exceptional and extraordinary income and 
charges the earnings per share are eur 1.44 (2001: eur 2.86).

Decrease in net sales due 

mainly to divestments
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strategic spearheads
Wessanen’s wellness strategy is spearheaded by strong brands, expansion of the distribu-
tion network and innovation.

     investment in strong brands
Wessanen’s wellness strategy targets the health and quality-conscious consumer. These 
consumers have high demands and are best served with strong brands and special, high-
quality products. This is why continuous development of our brand portfolio and exper-
tise in brand positioning forms one of the spearheads of our strategy.

In 2002 Tree of Life Europe carried out a consumer survey. The results of this survey have 
since been converted into concrete action plans which are now being implemented. 
As well as concentrating on key brands, the company will continue to develop synergies 
by initiating cross-launches and sharing product concepts.

In 2002 close attention was also paid to developing marketing strength and expertise. 
A tailor-made internal training program was started and a brand management methodol-
ogy was introduced to further streamline our marketing operations.

With the acquisition of Kallo Foods in July 2002 we gained a leading brand in the uk 
market for organic food. This brand, which fits in perfectly with the other brands in the 
European portfolio, consists of a specialized product range including rice crackers and 
breadsticks.

     expansion of the distribution network
Our goal is to establish a comprehensive distribution network for supermarkets, health 
stores, specialty stores and the out-of-home segment. The further expansion and develop-
ment of our technological knowledge and operational efficiencies form an essential part 
of our strategy.

In March 2002 we acquired the uk distribution company Nature’s Store. With its wide 
range of health foods and beverages, its large customer base in specialty stores in particu-
lar, and its excellent logistical capacity, Nature’s Store is strengthening the operations of 
Tree of Life in the uk. 

Tree of Life North America gained a new contract with Wild Oats Markets, Inc., effective 
from September 2002. By becoming the primary distribution partner for Wild Oats, Tree 
of Life North America has assumed a significant supply chain position in the so-called 
‘supernatural’ retail segment, a rapidly growing marketplace of large, professionally run 
supermarket size stores specializing in natural and organic food.

     focus on innovation
We are constantly investing in the development of new, innovative wellness products and 
concepts. For example, the introduction of Gayelord Hauser protein diet products in the 
French supermarkets was very successful. These innovative products are based on the 
wellness concept of renowned German nutritionist Gayelord Hauser. The product range 
includes, amongst others, preparations, bars and soups and aims at weight loss, without 
loss of either muscle mass or energy.

Innovation and renewal are not only forging ahead at product level; they are also impor-
tant in our business processes. In 2002 Tree of Life North America began developing a 
new ‘go to market’ strategy. This marketing strategy consists of a modular portfolio of 

Development of brand portfolio 

strategic spearhead
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service offerings, supply chain partnerships and logistical alliance concepts. Together 
with the national distribution network, extensive product range and sophisticated 
technological systems, the new ‘go to market strategy’ assures the retailer of a tailor-
made service package.

more transparent communication
Wessanen attaches prime importance to open and clear communication with its internal 
and external target groups. To provide more insight into the development of the results 
and the progress of the wellness strategy we started publishing quarterly figures as of the 
third quarter of 2002. In February 2003 we intend to launch a quarterly online magazine 
which will be accessible through our website and feature recent developments and strate-
gic activities. 

In order to improve communication between the organization and its shareholders an 
additional informative Shareholders’ Meeting was held on August 28, 2002. The half-year 
figures for 2002, the outlook for 2002 and subsequent years, the corporate strategy and 
Corporate Governance were explained at this meeting.

outlook
With the sale of Leerdammer Company in December 2002, Wessanen has completed its 
transition towards its wellness strategy. The year 2003 will be the first year to reflect 
results solely related to the wellness business.

Considering current circumstances Wessanen refrains from stating a concrete outlook for 
2003, in addition to the general guidance given in January, stating that 2003 results will 
exceed 2002.

Expectations for operational developments in 2003 include:
 Sales growth at Tree of Life Europe, due to effective marketing of key brands, 
innovations, market growth and targeted acquisitions

 Operational benefits from improvements of efficiency and service levels at Tree of Life 
North America 

 Cost reduction driven by increased efficiency as a result of the reorganization in the 
uk, as well as further focus on value-added cereal products at the Cereals group

 Sales growth due to innovations and further cost reductions at the Convenience Food 
Group

For 2003, Wessanen’s short-term objectives include:
Appoint successor ceo

 Increase efficiency of operations at Tree of Life North America
 Reorganize the Cereal business in the uk

Long-term strategic goals remain:
 Invest in strong brands
 Expand distribution network
 Focus on innovation, both in products and business processes

No concrete outlook for 2003
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Financial overview per group
in millions euro

     n&sf  Conve-
    n&sf  North  nience Dairy
    Europe America Cereals Food Europe Corporate Divested Total

           

2002     
Sales   407.4 1,769.1 236.6 163.4 253.1 – – 2,829.6
ebita*    23.9 20.8 9.2 10.0 7.8 (9.5) – 62.2
ros*   5.9% 1.2% 3.9% 6.1% 3.1% – – 2.2% 
Average capital   
employed   72.8 447.0 85.2 49.6 50.7 (27.0) – 678.3
roi*   32.8% 4.7% 10.8% 20.2% 15.4% – – 9.2%
Increase economic 
premium   (4.7) (29.8) (2.8) 2.7 8.2 5.9 – (20.5)
Average goodwill   193.0 213.8 84.3 60.5 7.3 – – 558.9
roic*   9.0% 3.1% 5.4% 9.1% 13.4% – – 5.0%

2001     
Sales   343.5 1,907.0 231.1 162.4 292.3 – 1,031.6 3,967.9
ebita   19.6 55.5 11.9 7.7 1.1 (6.7) 35.5 124.6
ros   5.7% 2.9% 5.1% 4.7% 0.4% – 3.4% 3.1%
Average capital
employed   50.6 465.0 94.0 54.0 75.3 12.7 188.4 940.0
roi    38.7% 11.9% 12.7% 14.3% 1.5% – 18.8% 13.3%
Increase economic  premium  (2.2) (14.9) (8.0) (1.3) (17.9) 2.0 0.1 (42.2)
Average goodwill   148.3 206.5 81.2 60.5 7.3 – 156.6 660.4
roic   9.9% 8.3% 6.8% 6.7% 1.3% – 10.3% 7.8%

*   Before exceptional items

Please turn to pages 79 through 80 for an explanation of terminology used.
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Natural & Specialty Foods Europe

profile
Tree of Life Europe (tol Europe) is based in Tilburg, the Netherlands, and runs operations 
in seven Western European countries. The core business is niche products in the market 
for healthy, natural food and specialties. Main brands of this group are Bjorg, Gayelord 
Hauser, Kallo, Tartex and Zonnatura. tol Europe operates as one team in which optimal 
use is made of the specific competencies of each company.

strategy
tol Europe aims to achieve ongoing autonomous and acquisition-led growth in Europe 
by pursuing a common vision of the health food market, the distribution channels, the 
product range and the European brand portfolio. Synergy is created and utilized between 
the different tol Europe companies through cross-selling and cross-sourcing.
At the same time, the group wants to gain a solid market position in specialties and 
exotic products throughout Europe.

In 2002 more than 60% of the net sales was realized from the company’s own brands. 
Our aim is to further grow the share of branded sales in the coming years.

tol Europe specializes in a wide variety of innovative products, which are often 
positioned under umbrella brands. In doing this it leverages its competencies in 
low-volume distribution and niche marketing.

tol Europe’s main distribution channels are retail and specialty stores. The group 
strategy is to further develop the niche markets for wellness food by introducing specific 
European brands for each of these channels. Natural foods account for 89% and special-
ties account for 11% of the total sales of the group.

risk profile
In our estimation the risk profile for tol Europe’s marketing and distribution operations 
is low, largely because the production processes – and hence the associated risks – are 
minimized. The group is perfectly equipped to deal with market risks, thanks to the 
differentiated market approach to the supermarket channel and the individual specialty 
stores. The geographical spread and the high percentage of branded sales also protect the 
market position.

Many consumers see safety and quality as important arguments for choosing organic, 
natural and healthy food. For this reason any problems in these food chains could 
seriously undermine consumer confidence and hence our operations.

market developments, results and outlook
In 2002 almost all tol Europe companies increased their market share of products on the 
shelves of the large supermarket chains. Gayelord Hauser and Bjorg were the most succes-
ful brands of 2002, with a sales increase of over 10%. Furthermore, the Kallo brand, which 
was acquired in July 2002, showed a 45% growth over 2002.

More than 60% own brands
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in millions euro, unless stated otherwise
 2002 2001

  

Net sales 407.4 343.5
ebita 23.9 19.6
ros 5.9% 5.7%
Average capital 
employed 72.8 50.6
roi 32.8% 38.7%
Increase economic  
premium (4.7) (2.2)
Average goodwill 193.0 148.3
roic 9.0% 9.9%

In 2002 almost all tol Europe companies increased their market share of products on the 
shelves of the large supermarket chains. Gayelord Hauser and Bjorg were the most succes-
ful brands of 2002, with a sales increase of over 10%. Furthermore, the Kallo brand, which 
was acquired in July 2002, showed a 45% growth over 2002.

The sales channel of independent European health food stores developed slower. This seg-
ment came under pressure, especially in Germany. As a result, Corposan, our German 
operation, experienced a limited decrease in sales compared with 2001.

The almost flat autonomous sales growth should be seen in the context of a beneficial 
year 2001 because of positive bse and food & mouth effects in 2001 versus more difficult 
economic conditions in 2002.

The ebita increased by eur 4.3 million, driven by marked sales increases of some of our 
major brands and by good results contributions from our recent acquisitions in the uk.

Shortly after the close of the financial year Wessanen purchased the Natudis shares of 
Hügli AG, Switzerland, thereby increasing its participation in Natudis from 41% to 70%.

For 2003 tol Europe is forecasting limited sales growth, driven by the effective marketing 
of key brands, innovations, market growth and targeted acquisitions.

strategic spearheads

 spearheads 2002  concrete actions 2002  spearheads 2003
 Expand the 

     portfolio of strong 
     brands

 Ongoing 
     development of 
     market-oriented 
     product range

 Further develop 
     leading market 
     position in Europe

 Acquisition Kallo 
     Foods 

 Acquisition Nature’s 
     Store

 Consumer study
 Professionalizing

     marketing plans

 Start training 
     courses

 Actively develop  
     product range 
     and brands

 Extra growth key brands
 Cross-selling and cross-

     sourcing between 
     tol Europe companies

 Further growth through  
     targeted acquisitions

     

Sales remained at high level 2001
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Natural & Specialty Foods North America

profile
Tree of Life North America (tol na) is recognized as the market leader in the distribution 
and marketing of natural, organic and specialty food products in both the us and Canada. 
From its 17 distribution facilities, tol na offers specialized stores, supermarkets and 
‘supernaturals’, coast to coast, the broadest assortment available of these kinds of prod-
ucts. In addition, the company’s marketing service programs, targeted to the needs of 
each specific retail channel served, focus on effective category management and on main-
taining the company’s position as category captain for natural and specialty foods.

Within tol na, American Natural & Specialty Brands and Liberty Richter are responsible 
for the marketing of both company-owned and sole agency brands, sold through multiple 
consumer channels, targeted at meeting consumer demand for healthy and specialty 
niche products.  The operations of American Beverage Corporation (abc) also fall under 
this North American group. abc specializes in the production, marketing and distribution 
of fruit flavored drinks and juices, water and non-alcoholic cocktail mixes.

strategy
The long-term strategy of tol na is to attain profitable growth by strengthening its leading 
position in three main channels: specialized stores, supermarkets and ‘supernaturals’.  
In view of current developments, tol na’s short-term focus is on operational improve-
ment and cost reduction. First of all, the changes in the company’s operations at both the 
corporate and division levels will further reduce infrastructure expenses and increase 
service levels, operating flexibility and efficiency. Furthermore, tol na will enhance its 
go-to-market processes through a newly developed strategy. By offering a modular port-
folio of segmented supply chain marketing and distribution services, tol na will provide 
customers with a tailor-made high-quality service package that anticipates the increasing-
ly competitive pricing environment in the markets we serve. Finally, additional invest-
ments in automation and mechanization are essential to make the company’s 
distribution services even more flexible and efficient.

risk profile
The risk profile of tol na’s marketing and distribution operations is closely associated 
with the significant share of business which the company’s largest customers represent.

Competitive pressures arising from retail consolidation, and Wal-Mart’s continuing rapid 
growth within the supermarket industry, are forcing national and regional supermarket 
chains to reposition their merchandising activities, and improve their cost of goods effi-
ciencies. The focus on cost of goods can drive increased price competition amongst ven-
dors, suppliers and wholesale distributors. In the natural food supply chain, increased 
competition between the supernaturals and independent retailers for market share and 
customers is also expected to exert pricing pressures on suppliers. 

The five largest supermarket customers represent 52% of tol na’s sales. The loss of one of 
these major customers is a risk factor. To mitigate this risk, tol na has made significant 
investments in systems and processes to improve the quality and value of the marketing 
and distribution services with a focused concentration on service level improvements, 
speed to market with new products and maintaining a category leadership and 
development position.

Competitive pressure in retail 

as a result of consolidation

Broad assortment natural, organic 

and specialty food products
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Every year 10-15% of the tol na’s product assortment is replaced by new items. The prod-
ucts that are eliminated are either discontinued due to unsatisfactory results or, occa-
sionally are successful enough to progress from a niche to a mainstream product. In the 
latter case, the product ships directly from the producer to the supermarket, bypassing 
the distributor in the supply chain.

Finally, with  the company’s sophisticated order and distribution processes, tol na is 
dependent on highly efficient operating systems.

market developments, results and outlook
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise
 2002 2001

  

Net sales 1,769.1 1,907.0
ebita* 20.8 55.0
ros* 1.2% 2.9%
Average capital 
employed 447.0 465.0
roi* 4.7% 11.9%
Increase economic 
premium* (29.8) (14.9)
Average goodwill 213.8 206.5
roic* 3.1% 8.3%

* Before an exceptional charge of 23.6 for a partial write-off of the erp system and related costs

Despite continuing growth in the us market segment for natural and healthy food 
products the results of tol na came under heavy pressure in 2002. While the sales of 
natural products to supermarkets have grown, other product categories showed a 
decrease of 8%. This sales decline is almost entirely attributable to the loss of major cus-
tomers Albertsons and heb in the summer of 2002, the restructuring of the supplier rela-
tionship with Wal-Mart, and Safeway’s decision to take some of the leading product cate-
gories through their own warehouse program. The subsequent sales decline was largely 
offset by new sales through Wild Oats Markets. The new supply chain relationship with 
Wild Oats, the number two player in the rapidly growing ‘supernatural’ retail segment, 
began to have a positive impact on sales figures late in the year, contributing sales of over 
usd 35 million in the fourth quarter.

The Wild Oats relationship, which is expected to generate annual sales of over eur 150 
million, provides further opportunities for stronger growth in tol na’s sales to other nat-
ural product retailers in 2003. To effectively service Wild Oats, tol na expanded its refrig-
erated, frozen, and grocery assortment of natural and organic food products, and intro-
duced a very competitive bulk foods program. This expanded assortment will not only 
drive sales for Wild Oats, but can be leveraged to grow sales with other existing natural 
food store and supermarket customers, and to develop new business relationships with 
both conventional and natural food supermarket retailers.

In 2002, the management of tol na’s distribution centers and brand activities were 
restructured under seven regional management teams (Southeast, Southwest, Northeast, 
Midwest, West, Northwest and Canada). This regional alignment has positioned to restruc-
ture its distribution network over the coming months. 

tol na 2002 results under 

heavy pressure
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tol na is also focused on growing its brand presence and profitability through strategic 
repositioning and acquisitions. At the beginning of 2002, the Corporate Brand 
Development Group and American Natural Snacks were combined into a new entity, 
American Natural & Specialty Brands (ansb). This new team is moving forward with an 
emphasis on marketing and building brands.

Acquisition activity within tol na was focused on market consolidation opportunities in 
specific product categories and geographic territories.  During 2002, tol na acquired bec 
Trading Limited, a Canadian natural and specialty foods distribution company that servic-
es supermarket chains and independent retailers. bec was consolidated with the existing 
operations of tol Canada East.

Early 2002 the new Enterprise Resource Planning (erp) system was installed in the 
Southeast region. An assessment of the system’s performance revealed that further devel-
opment was needed before implementation could proceed further. This means that some 
functionalities will need to be rebuilt. After an in-depth review, a decision has been taken 
to partly write down the system (eur 23.6 million, including related costs), which is includ-
ed in 2002 results as an exceptional item. The remaining value of the system is eur 18 mil-
lion.

The profound organizational changes, related to changes to the client base, the regionali-
zation and the troublesome erp introduction in our Southeast division lowered ebita by 
eur 21 million. Moreover, at the end of 2002, an additional charge of eur 14 million, of 
which about half can be considered recurring costs, was taken to increase provisions for 
receivables, stocks and insurance. These disappointing results, which mainly occurred in 
the second half of 2002, led to major changes at tol na in both management and manage-
ment structure.

For 2003, tol na focuses on reducing operating expenses and enhancing performance by 
continuing the regionalization process. Moreover, the erp problems in the Southeast 
region will be solved and a renewed implementation plan for the system will be completed.

strategic spearheads

 spearheads 2002
 Strengthen the 

      market position
 Focus on innovative 

      marketing

 Improved and 
      flexible distribution 
      and logistical 
      services

 concrete actions 2002
 Distribution agree-

      ment with Wild Oats
 Development of 

      go-to-market 
      strategy

 Establishment of 
      ansb

 Regionalization

     spearheads 2003
 Reduce operating 

      expenses
 Improve working

      capital

 Enhance service levels

 Solve erp problems

Priorities 2003:

reduce costs,

solve erp problems and

enhance service levels
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Cereals

profile
Dailycer, Wessanen’s Cereals group in the United Kingdom, France and the Netherlands, 
produces, sells and distributes a full range of cereal products under private label with the 
emphasis on innovative specialties with high added value. This group also includes the 
operations of Delicia in Tilburg, the Netherlands (chocolate sprinkles and flakes) and 
Telford Foods in the United Kingdom (dry soups and sauces), which was divested in 
July 2002.

strategy
Growth in the sales of traditional cereal products is leveling out, therefore Dailycer is 
explicitly focusing its strategy on cereal products with high added value. By concentrat-
ing on the growing market of the health and quality-conscious consumer, Dailycer is 
supporting supermarkets with their added value private label products. Key investments 
in the production of cereal bars and healthy, up-market breakfast cereals will reinforce 
Dailycer’s position in these growth segments. The ability to offer additional services 
such as marketing support is also a critical success factor for Dailycer in the private 
label market.

risk profile
Dailycer’s customers include many European supermarket chains. Excellent service and 
high quality standards are essential in order to hold on to the current customers in the 
increasingly competitive market for private labels. Hence, the price policy needs to be 
closely linked to that of the A brands. Maintaining the price differences with the A brands 
inevitably affects the margins. 
Furthermore, the operating result of the group is sensitive to fluctuations in the price of 
raw materials, since increases cannot always be passed on to customers in time.

market developments, results and outlook
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise
 2002 2001

  

Net sales 236.6 231.1
ebita 9.2 11.9
ros 3.9% 5.1%
Average capital
employed 85.2 94.0
roi 10.8% 12.7%
Increase economic 
premium (2.8) (8.0)
Average goodwill 84.3 81.2
roic 5.4% 6.8%

The market for traditional private-label breakfast cereals is showing limited growth, 
largely as a result of the introduction of specialties and wholesome new products, such as 
cereal bars and healthy breakfast cereals. Despite fierce competition, Dailycer realized 
sales growth of 9%, which was due mainly to new products and specific regional growth 
in Southern Europe. In 2002 it was faced with a substantial increase in the price of some 
raw materials (cocoa and honey), which could not be directly passed on to the customer.

Difficult market circumstances in the uk put the results of our Cereals group under pres-
sure, leading to an ebita decline of eur 2.7 million. Meanwhile, a start has been made 
to integrate the different continental and uk operations into one focussed, centrally man-

Cereal products with high added value

Sales growth 9%, despite 

fierce competition
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aged organization. The production line for cereal bars has been further improved and a 
far-reaching reorganization program for the uk has been prepared and announced. The 
reorganization will lead to a workforce reduction of 20% and the termination of unprofit-
able product lines. Extraordinary results include a charge of eur 8 million, mainly for 
restructuring costs. 

Losses at Telford Foods put pressure on the group ebita in the first half of 2002. In July 
2002 Telford Foods was sold with a limited book loss to Brand Partnership Ltd., Leeds, 
United Kingdom.

For 2003, the Cereals group expects to reduce costs, as a result of increased efficiency 
through the regionalization in the uk. Moreover, a continuing focus on value-added 
cereal products is expected to further strengthen the company’s market leadership in the 
private-label market.

strategic spearheads

          spearheads 2002  concrete actions 2002  spearheads 2003
          Strengthen   Investment in  Strengthen
                market leadership  production capacity  market leadership
                   for healthy 
                  breakfast cereals  
          Develop   Develop cereal bars  Develop innovative
                innovative   Introduction  cereal concepts with
                cereal concepts  savory snacks   high added value
           Ongoing optimiza-   Cereal bar production  Continue optimiza-
                tion of business  line operational  tion of the business
                processes    processes
                    Finalize restructuring    
          
                   
                    

Strengthen leading position in 2003
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Convenience Food Group

profile
Wessanen’s Convenience Food Group (cfg) produces, sells and distributes a broad range of 
frozen snacks and meal components under the brand names of Beckers, Gelderland, 
Kemper and Vegeta. Sales are targeted at the supermarket and the out-of-home channels, 
mainly in the Netherlands, Belgium and Germany. Thanks to a combination of techno-
logical expertise and knowledge of the market, cfg can respond effectively to the needs 
of modern, busy and quality-conscious consumers. 
Beckers is the group’s major brand for existing products and product innovations and 
launches.

strategy
The cfg strategy aims to further strengthen the growing market positions in the 
Netherlands, Belgium and Germany. The market position in the out-of-home channel in 
particular will be supported with innovative quality products and product concepts. 
Close attention will also be paid in the coming years to strengthen the Beckers brand.

risk profile
The operating result of cfg is sensitive to fluctuations in the price of raw materials, since 
increases cannot always be passed on to the customers in time. Stringent selection proce-
dures for suppliers and close monitoring of the chain are crucial to avoid health risks.

market developments, results and outlook
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise
 2002 2001

  

Net sales 163.4 162.4
ebita 10.0 7.7
ros 6.1% 4.7%
Average capital
employed 49.6 54.0
roi 20.2% 14.3%
Increase economic 
premium 2.7 (1.3)
Average goodwill 60.5 60.5
roic 9.1% 6.7%

The introduction of the euro at the start of 2002 had an impact on consumer spending 
patterns, especially in the German out-of-home channel.

Volumes in the traditional channels came under heavy pressure, which intensified 
competition. Despite this, sales showed a limited increase partly as a result of innova-
tions. The market for raw materials settled down somewhat in 2002. The underlying 
trends of consumer demand for more variety in the foods they eat and for “meatless 
meals” continued. 

Further strengthen Beckers brand
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The innovations introduced in 2001 improved in 2002 the position they had won in the 
market. In the course of the year a new innovation was added to the convenience range: 
Beckers microwavable sausage roll.

In Germany SnackWorld was launched with great success. SnackWorld is an out-of-home 
concept, which enables the customers to offer a full range of snack products backed up 
with thematic material. In addition, a selection of high-quality German specialties was 
introduced to the supermarket channel, which until then had only been sold in the 
German out-of-home channel. Both concepts were the results of the synergy benefits from 
the integration of kk-Convenience and Beckers at the end of 2001.

In 2002 sales decreased in Germany, primarily because of the economic climate and the 
rationalization of the German product portfolio. Satisfactory growth was realized in the 
sales of products sold under the Beckers brand.

Against the modest 1% autonomous sales growth, the increase of 30% in ebita was 
remarkable. The strong improvement of results in Germany, which was due to the above-
mentioned integration, the strengthening of the Beckers brand and the lower prices of 
raw materials, were the most important factors.

For 2003, cfg is anticipating a modest increase in sales, driven by innovations, a focus of 
the out-of-home channel and continuously improving efficiency.

strategic spearheads

spearheads 2002 concrete actions 2002 spearheads 2003
 Develop innovative 

     and healthy snack 
     concepts

 Focus on strong 
     growth in the 
     out-of-home 
     channel

 Introduction  
     microwavable 
     sausage roll and
     Beckers Alternatives

 Introduction  
     SnackWorld concept

 Introduction  
     Cheese Crack

 Develop innovative, 
     responsible and
     easy-to-prepare
     snack concepts and
     meal components

 Focus on growth in 
     the out-of-home 
     channel

 Emphasis on the
     Beckers brand

 More intensive  
     consumer 
     advertising

 Emphasis on the
     Beckers brand

     
     

 

Against modest sales growth 

30% increase ebita
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Dairy Europe

profile
In September 2002 Wessanen announced that it had signed a deal with Fromageries 
Bel s.a., Paris, France, on the sale of its European dairy operations, Leerdammer Company, 
for eur 190 million. The sale was completed in December 2002.

results
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise
 2002* 2001

  

Net sales 253.1 292.3
ebita 7.8 1.1
ros 3.1% 0.4%
Average capital
employed 50.7 75.3
roi 15.4% 1.5%
Increase economic 
premium 8.2 (17.9)
Average goodwill 7.3 7.3
roic 13.4% 1.3%

* January - November

In line with the expectations, the results showed a structural improvement compared 
with 2001.
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Financing

general
The group financing is coordinated centrally as this enables us to meet our financial 
needs in a flexible and cost-effective manner.

For example, in 2002 we introduced an improved cash-management system in mainland 
Europe, enabling the positive and negative bank balances of our European subsidiaries to 
be evened out for interest purposes. As a consequence, the interest charges on the daily 
fluctuating cash positions is minimized.

We started 2002 with a good solvency position, which was further strengthened in 
December by the proceeds from the sale of Leerdammer Company.

Our excellent balance sheet ratios provide opportunities for the acquisition of companies 
that fit in with the corporate strategy and meet our profitability criteria on the basis of 
the value based management program. Despite the lower operating result in 2002 our 
ebitda-interest ratio increased beyond the minimum target level of 6 (6.4 in 2002 versus 
5.5 in 2001).

strategy
The strategy is still geared to securing the long-term financing of the company, therefore 
minimizing interest expenses and eliminating as many currency risks as possible. For this 
purpose, our subsidiaries outside the euro zone are financed as much as possible with 
local currency.

One of the spearheads of our value based management program is to optimize the cost of 
our capital. Our longer-term strategy is therefore aimed at financing a larger part of our 
operations with debt. In order to keep our ebitda-interest ratio at the minimum level of 6 
we strive for a proper balance between improvements in our operating result and invest-
ments in acquisitions.

market developments
The further decline in the interest rates in Europe and North America had a beneficial 
effect on our interest expenses, but the extent of this effect was limited due to our low 
debt position, and due to the fact that most of our debts are long-term.

Thanks to our healthy balance sheet position the general reluctance of financial 
institutions to provide loans did not constitute a problem.

Good solvency position 

further improved in 2002
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results and outlook
 2002 2001

  

Solvency 51.0% 42.3%
Debt-to-equity 17.0% 44.0%
ebitda-interest ratio 6.4 5.5
Long-term liability 
(in millions euro) 155.7 180.7 
Short-term finance 
(in millions euro) (51.7) 75.1
Interest expenses 
(in millions euro) 16.0 32.5

In 2002 the interest expenses further decreased to eur 16.0 million compared with 
eur 32.5 million in 2001 and eur 38.5 million in 2000. This was largely attributable 
to the proceeds from the divestment of the American dairy operations, Golden Foods 
International and our participation in Campari in 2001 and the divestment of 
Leerdammer in 2002. This was partially offset by repayment of capital to the shareholders 
at the end of 2001 (eur 140 million).

The average interest rate on outstanding long-term debt funding was 7.8% (2001: 7.8%). 
At the end of 2002 interest-bearing debts stood at eur 104 million (2001: eur 256 million), 
consisting mostly of a debt of eur 130 million in dollars.

Excluding possible acquisitions, divestments or capital transactions the average 
debt for 2003 will be lower than for 2002, thereby leading to a further reduction in the 
interest expenses.
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Cash flow, acquisitions and investments

Cash flow control and optimization of the capital employed in our operations lie at the 
heart of our financial policy. In our operating companies these are crucial performance 
indicators which are an integral part of the compensation structure for our managers.

In 2002 the cash flow from operating activities was eur 51.3 million, eur 52.3 million less 
than in 2001. This decrease was caused by the disappointing results of our largest group, 
Tree of Life North America, and by the diminished size of the company as a result of our 
strategic reorientation. The increase in the working capital at Tree of Life North America 
also contributed to the lower cash flow.

This cash flow was used for the acquisitions listed in the table below (eur 45.6 million) 
and investment in fixed assets (eur 42.3 million). The largest investment in fixed assets 
took place in Tree of Life North America, where the erp system required further funding 
and where distribution centers were adapted and expanded for regionalization purposes 
and for our new customer Wild Oats.

The dividends from minority participations, amounting to eur 5.9 million, were lower 
than in 2001 (eur 9.2 million) because of the sale of the stake in Campari in mid-2001.

     main divestments in 2002

      Company  

     
     Telford Foods  
     Ltd. 
     
     Leerdammer    
     Company

Group

Cereals

                                
Dairy Europe

Annual 
sales*

24

                                
292

Divestment 
date

July 2002

December 2002

Divestment 
proceeds*

undisclosed 

190

main acquisitions in 2002

      Company

 
Group

Indicative 
annual sales*

Acquisition
date

     
     Nature’s Store 
     Ltd.
     

n&sf
Europe

30 March 2002

     bec Trading     
     Ltd.

     Kallo Foods      
     Ltd.
     

n&sf North 
America

n&sf
Europe

14

23

March 2002

July 2002

* in millions euro 

Cash flow control and 

optimization of capital employed
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Risk management

The periodic reporting in the company, which besides financial results also includes a  
monthly Balanced Scorecard, aims to monitor that the operating companies adhere to the 
guidelines on risk management. In addition, a system of Quarterly Business Reviews was 
introduced in 2002 under which the group management teams meet the Executive Board 
to report each quarter on the activities of the past quarter and those planned for the next 
six quarters.

For Wessanen the most important foreign currencies are the us dollar and the British 
pound. Like the interest risks, currency risks arising from operational transactions are 
managed and hedged by our central Treasury Department, which uses various financial 
instruments such as forward currency and interest rate contracts and currency and inter-
est rate options.

Results in foreign currency are converted in the consolidated income statement at the 
average exchange rate for the year. For our current operations a fluctuation of 1 eurocent 
in the usd-eur exchange rate has an effect of around eur 0.15 million on the net income.

Balance sheet risks that arise from converting the balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries 
into euros are not hedged. These differences are reflected in the consolidated share-
holders’ equity in the balance sheet at the end of the year.

On balance, the net income in 2002 was hardly affected by the conversion of the income 
statements of foreign companies, as the results outside the eurozone were limited. 
Shareholders’ equity suffered adverse effects of eur 33.4 million because the euro had 
increased by 18% in value in relation to the dollar compared with year-end 2001.
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Employees

introduction
Our employees play a crucial role in the achievement of our strategic goals. In fact, 
Wessanen owes much of its success to their proactive approach to consumer trends, market 
developments and business relations. Our corporate culture is characterized by entrepre-
neurship, open communication and personal development and forms a nurturing environ-
ment where flexible and dedicated employees can realize their potential.

strategy and instruments
Wessanen’s hr policy is designed with a view to developing, supporting and retaining 
talented and efficient employees. A comprehensive package of training and development 
programs, close attention to the internal promotability of managers, and a balanced system 
of assessment, coaching and rewards make for an attractive working environment with 
excellent career prospects.

     management traineeship
Our trainee program is one of the instruments that provide us with the talent we need for 
management positions. Participants in this three-year trainee program are given the chance 
to acquire knowledge within the organization. They work in different companies, disci-
plines and countries where they gain diverse and international experience, which is invalu-
able for their future careers and for Wessanen as a whole.

     wessanen academy
In 2002 we started the Wessanen Academy, a range of internal training programs to 
promote personal and professional progress and to develop the leadership skills of 
Wessanen managers. The first new programs started during the year. These included 
act, a two-year management development program for Wessanen managers, and mastr!, a 
marketing and sales training program. The successful Tryomp, a three-year management 
development program for trainees and talented young managers, is also part of the 
Wessanen Academy curriculum. More new programs will start in 2003.

     mobility
More synergy across the entire spectrum will enable the Wessanen organization to continue 
to develop into a coherent entity. This will make the rotation of employees simpler, more 
efficient and – above all – more advantageous. An excellent example of successful mobility 
is the management team of Tree of Life Europe, formed in 2001. This international team 
consists mostly of talented managers from diverse disciplines who have been brought 
together from different Wessanen companies.

     performance commitment
Our strategy is reflected as far as possible in the organizational structure. Entrepreneurship 
and flexibility, which are steered with professional instruments such as the Balanced 
Scorecard and a strategic focus, play a key role in this. We call this ‘monitored entrepre-
neurship’. Individual performance targets which are derived from the Balanced Scorecard 
and set out in a Performance Commitment Contract serve as the criteria for interim coach-
ing, fine-tuning and annual assessments. The bonus incentive program (option scheme and 
bonus scheme) is linked to our value based management system and completes the 
Performance Contract. The Executive Performance Contract was introduced worldwide at 
the start of 2003.

Attractive working environment with 

excellent career prospects



30 Report of the Executive Board 31Annual Report 2002

developments
number of employees as at december 31: 

  of which in   
  the Nether- North 
 Europe lands America Total

    

 2002 total current 
 activities 4,489 * 702 * 5,703 * 10,192 *
 Natural & Specialty Foods 2,379  107  5,700  8,079
 Cereals 1,109  174  –  1,109
 Convenience Food 941  362   –   941
    
 2001 total current 
 activities 5,087 * 1,195 * 6,150 * 11,237 *
 Natural & Specialty Foods 2,191  132  6,147  8,338
 Cereals 1,329  185  –  1,329
 Convenience Food 858  352  –  858
 Dairy Europe 652  469  –  652

 * also including corporate staff (December 31, 2002: 63, December 31, 2001: 60).

 

On December 31, 2002, Wessanen had 10,192 employees of many different nationalities 
(December 31, 2001: 11,237). The fluctuation in the size of the workforce stems partly from 
the divestment of Telford Foods (uk) and the Leerdammer Company operations, and partly 
from the reorganization at Tree of Life North America. The acquisitions, Nature’s Store 
and Kallo Foods, had a limited impact on the number of employees. The total personnel 
costs decreased from eur 563.9 million in 2001 to eur 434.4 million in 2002, representing 
a fall of 23%. This decrease reflects – apart from the shifts in workforce as mentioned 
above – the effect of the divestments of the us dairy companies and Golden Foods 
International in 2001.

The corporate Balanced Scorecard includes a number of ratios for monitoring manage-
ment, quality, and successor potential. The internal successor potential for senior manage-
ment positions was 56% in 2002 (2001: 50%). Our aim is to appoint around 75% internally.

In 2002 we held constructive meetings with works councils and trade unions on the 
divestment of Leerdammer Company and other changes in the organizational structure.

The changes in the organization, especially the divestments and reorganizations, have 
made heavy demands on the company and its employees. These processes not only require 
excellent organization and management but also an understanding of the personal impli-
cations and how to deal with them. We therefore wish to thank all our personnel for the 
commitment they have again shown in 2002.

Amstelveen, February 20, 2003

Executive Board
Mac Zondervan, Chairman
Koos Kramer
Rick Thorne
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Message from the Supervisory Board
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Message from the Supervisory Board

To the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, to be held on April 2, 2003.

report year 2002
During the report year the Supervisory Board was regularly informed by the Executive 
Board about operational developments. The Supervisory Board met nine times. During one 
of these meetings discussions were held with the external accountants. Furthermore, one 
extra meeting was convened in the absence of the Executive Board, during which our own 
performance as well as our relationship with the Executive Board were discussed.
Besides the customary subjects, such as operational developments, the results, the finan-
cial position, the strategy and the organization, we discussed budgets, multi-year plans, 
acquisitions and divestments, risks and risk management, pension commitments and cor-
porate governance at Koninklijke Wessanen.

All the members of the Supervisory Board attended the Annual General Meeting of Share-
holders on April 3, 2002. An extra General Meeting of Shareholders was held on August 28, 
where further information was provided on the half-year figures, the outlook for 2002 and 
2003, the corporate strategy and corporate governance. This meeting was informative in 
character and was convened at the request of the shareholders. In October the Supervisory 
Board and the Executive Board paid a joint visit to Beckers in Katwijk, the Netherlands, 
which is part of the Convenience Food Group. We also used this occasion to discuss at 
length market developments, the implementation of the cfg strategy and the plans for the 
future with the management of the Convenience Food Group.

The sale of Leerdammer Company to Fromageries Bel s.a. in 2002 was the direct conse-
quence of the corporate strategy, which aims to make Wessanen the international market 
leader in the marketing and distribution of natural food and specialties for the health- and 
quality-conscious consumer. The Supervisory Board is confident that Wessanen will contin-
ue to strengthen its market position by focusing on wellness.

Regulations of the Supervisory Board and a profile are both open for inspection at the 
corporate headquarters. 

The members of the Supervisory Board hold no shares or depositary receipts of shares in 
the company. They have no tradeable options on either shares or depositary receipts of 
shares in the company and shall not be issued with any. The remuneration of the members 
of the Supervisory Board is not related to the performance of the company. No member of 
the Supervisory Board has been employed by the company in the past five years. Nor has 
any member provided advisory services in ‘interlocking directorships’ or held the position 
of chief shareholder.

The regulations governing the Supervisory Board make provisions for a Remuneration and 
Appointment Committee. In 2002 Messrs. K.J. Storm and H. Wiegel were members of this 
committee. In 2002 the committee concentrated on assessing the performance of the 
Executive Board, the salary structure, the award of options and the pension scheme for the 
Executive Board. The remuneration of the Executive Board is in compliance with the market.

The Audit Committee which was established in 2002 consisted of Messrs J.A.N. van Dijk 
(Chairman) and F.H.J. Koffrie (member). The Audit Committee assesses the financial report-
ing, the internal control system for financial risks, the audit process and the corporate 
procedures for monitoring adherence to the law and the regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association the financial statements for 2002 which have 
been prepared by the Executive Board and audited by kpmg Accountants n.v., Amstelveen, 
the Netherlands, and the Report of the Executive Board have been submitted to us.
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We concur with the financial statements and the proposal for the appropriation of the net 
income for 2002. We recommend that the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders adopt 
these financial statements and that the members of the Executive Board be granted dis-
charge from their management duties and the members of the Supervisory Board for their 
supervision thereof insofar as said management is reflected in the financial statements.

The Supervisory Board is deeply indebted to all Wessanen employees for their exemplary 
efforts and dedication.

Amstelveen, the Netherlands, February 20, 2003

Supervisory Board
K.J. Storm, Chairman
H. Wiegel, Vice-Chairman
J.A.N. van Dijk
F.H.J. Koffrie

members of the supervisory board 

k.j. storm (60), chairman
Former chairman of the Executive Board of aegon n.v., Dutch nationality, appointed to the 
Supervisory Board in April 1996, resigns in 2004 (eligible for reappointment).
Other positions: Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Laurus n.v.; member of the 
Supervisory Board of aegon n.v., klm n.v., Interbrew sa and pon Holdings b.v.

h. wiegel (61), vice-chairman
Chairman of Zorgverzekeraars Nederland, Dutch nationality, appointed to the Supervisory 
Board in April 1991, resigns in 2004 (eligible for reappointment).
Other positions: Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Grontmij n.v., Nederlands 
Omroepproductie Bedrijf (nob), De Meeuw b.v., Burgers-Ergen b.v., Copaco n.v., Coram 
International b.v.; member of the Supervisory Board of abn/amro Bouwfonds, Van 
Gansewinkel b.v., Arriva-Nederland; Chairman of Centraal Brouwerij Kantoor (cbk); 
board member of Achmea; member of the Advisory Board of Deloitte & Touche.
 
j.a.n. van dijk (64)
Former Senior Vice President of the Sara Lee Corporation and member of the Board of 
Management of Sara Lee/de n.v., Dutch nationality, appointed to the Supervisory Board in 
April 1997, resigns in 2005 (eligible for reappointment).
Other positions: Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Delta Lloyd n.v., Transavia Airlines 
b.v. and c.v. Verenigde Bloemenveilingen Aalsmeer (v.b.a.) b.a.; Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board of the University of Utrecht.

f.h.j. koffrie (50)
Chairman of the Executive Board of Buhrmann nv, Dutch nationality, appointed to the 
Supervisory Board in 2001, resigns in 2005 (eligible for reappointment).
Other positions: Member of the Supervisory Board of Vodafone n.v.



34 35Annual Report 2002Report of the Trust

Report of the Trust ‘Stichting Administratie-
kantoor van Aandelen Koninklijke Wessanen’

To the holders of depositary receipts of ordinary shares in Koninklijke Wessanen nv.

The conditions of the Trust under which the above-mentioned depositary receipts 
are issued by the undersigned were established by deed on December 21, 2001, before 
G.W.Ch. Visser, civil law notary in Amsterdam. Holders of depositary receipts may obtain 
copies of these conditions free of charge from the undersigned or the n.v. Algemeen 
Nederlands Trustkantoor in Amsterdam (‘ant’), Herengracht 420, nl-1017 bz (phone 
+31 20 522 25 55, fax +31 20 522 25 00, e-mail conversie@ant-trust.nl).

In compliance with Article 15 of the Trust conditions the undersigned hereby conveys 
that the activities during the financial year 2002 consisted of holding in its name, acquir-
ing and taking into administration ordinary shares in Koninklijke Wessanen nv, each 
with a nominal value of eur 1.00 and of issuing in respect thereof convertible bearer 
depositary receipts as well as, when necessary, re-converting depositary receipts into 
original shares, all with due regard to the Articles of Association of Koninklijke Wessanen 
nv, and furthermore, of exercising the rights attached to the shares, including the voting 
rights at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

As at December 31, 2002, the nominal value of the administered shares in Koninklijke 
Wessanen nv for which depositary receipts were issued was eur 72,190,554, constituting 
an increase of eur 3,564 compared with December 31, 2001.
This amount consists of depositary receipts worth eur 325 which were withdrawn 
for conversion into ordinary shares and depositary receipts worth eur 3,889 against 
which registration took place in the shareholders’ register.

The final dividend for 2001 and the interim dividend for 2002, which were declared 
by Koninklijke Wessanen nv on April 17 and September 11, 2002, respectively, became 
payable on depositary receipts issued by the Trust on these same dates.

During the report year the members of the Trust Board have regularly apprised them-
selves of the developments in the company based on the information supplied to the 
shareholders.

The Trust Board consists of three independent members, who have no ties with the com-
pany (‘a’ members) and one member (‘b’ member) who is nominated by the Supervisory 
Board. The current ‘a’ members have no shares or depositary receipts of shares in the 
company. If a vacancy arises through default on the part of one of the ‘a’ members the 
Trust fills the vacancy without having to request a nomination from a third party.

The Trust Board met twice in the report year. At one of these meetings, which was held 
after the publication of the annual report and before the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders, the Executive Board provided clarification of the annual report. At the 
same meeting the Trust Board agreed on how they would vote at the general meeting 
under the condition that the Board representatives could change their vote during that 
meeting if they felt this was warranted by the discussions. The ‘a’ members also consulted 
each other by telephone from time to time.
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The Board abides by the principle that, as a shareholder in the company, the Trust wishes 
only to receive the same information as the other shareholders.
The Trust has agreed with the company that the company will bear any reasonable costs 
which are incurred by the Trust, including the remuneration for ‘a’ members.
As the discussions of the Trust are confidential, the members are not permitted to dis-
close any information to third parties.
Wessanen participates in a proxy voting project which is organized by the Stichting 
Communicatiekanaal Aandeelhouders (Shareholders’ Communication Channel). As in 
2002, a decision has been taken to allow holders of depositary receipts to temporarily 
convert their depositary receipts into shares in 2003, so that they can exercise voting 
rights for the duration of the meeting through ant.

This year Messrs H. Langman and A.J. Kranendonk are due to resign by rotation. Mr. 
Langman is proposed to be reappointed for a period of two years and Mr. Kranendonk is 
proposed to be reappointed for one year.

The administrator of the Trust is the n.v. Nederlandsch Administratie- en Trustkantoor, 
Amsterdam.

Amsterdam, January 31, 2003

Stichting Administratiekantoor van Aandelen Koninklijke Wessanen,
Trust Board of Directors
H. Langman*, Chairman
K.J. Storm**
A.J. Kranendonk*
R. Pieterse*

*   Board member ‘a’

**  Board member ‘b’
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Declaration

The Executive Board of Koninklijke Wessanen nv and the Board of the Stichting 
Administratiekantoor van Aandelen Koninklijke Wessanen hereby declare that in their 
joint opinion the requirements regarding the independence of the Trust members have 
been satisfied as set out in Annex X of the Trust Regulations of Euronext Amsterdam n.v., 
Amsterdam.

Amsterdam, January 31, 2003

Executive Board of Koninklijke Wessanen nv
Board of the Stichting Administratiekantoor van Aandelen Koninklijke Wessanen
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Accounting principles

consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Koninklijke Wessanen nv and all enter-
prises that are controlled by Koninlijke Wessanen nv. Control is presumed to exist if the parent owns, directly or 
indirectly more than one half of the voting power of an enterprise or is able to exercise dominant influence. 
Minority interests are identified and presented separately in the net assets and net income.
In accordance with Sections 379 and 414, Title 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, a list of the consolidated group com-
panies and nonconsolidated participations is deposited at the Trade Register of the Amsterdam Chamber of 
Commerce.

principles for valuation
Income and shareholders’ equity are determined on the basis of historical cost.
The amounts presented in the balance sheet are based on the historical cost, less any necessary provisions.

revenue recognition
Net sales represent the proceeds of goods delivered to third parties, less any vat.
Revenues are recognized upon the delivery of goods and services. Costs are charged to results in the period in which 
they are incurred or are matched against the related income. 

foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate in effect on the date of transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euro at exchange rates in effect at the 
balance sheet date. Any exchange rate differences arising are included in the income statement.
Group companies outside the Netherlands are considered as independent foreign entities.
The financial figures of these group companies and participations are stated in the currency in which these group 
companies predominantly perform their business (functional currency). Results of these foreign operations are trans-
lated to euro using average exchange rates of the year under review. Assets and liabilities are translated using the 
exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Differences arising from the translation of the net investment in for-
eign group companies and from related permanent group financing are taken directly to shareholders’ equity.

the euro exchange rates for the for wessanen most important currencies are:

    2002   2001
   Average  Year end Average Year end

     

us dollar    0.95  1.05  0.89  0.88
Pound Sterling   0.63  0.65  0.62  0.61
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financial instruments
Financial instruments are used in order to manage interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk. These instruments are 
measured at fair value and any changes in the value of the instruments at the balance sheet date are taken to net 
income. Where derivatives are used to hedge future transactions that are highly probable the result based on market 
value is deferred until the related transactions occur. 
Interest rate differences arising from financial instruments used to hedge interest rate risks are recognized as finan-
cial income and expenses.

intangible fixed assets
Goodwill regarding acquisitions is calculated as the difference between the purchase price and the Wessanen share in 
the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition. This goodwill is capitalized and amor-
tized on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic lifetime. The latter varies – depending on the type of acqui-
sition – between 5 and 20 years.

property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are valued at historical cost less depreciation calculated according to the straight-line 
method on the basis of their economic life. Land is not depreciated. The economic life of the property, plant and 
equipment, on which the depreciation is based, is as follows:

Buildings and offices  30 years
Machinery and equipment  10-15 years
Computers, including software  3-5 years
Other   3-5 years

Assets not in use are recorded at the lower of their book value and market value.

financial fixed assets
Investments in associates over which significant influence is exercised in the financial and operating policies are 
included at net asset value.
Securities and investments over which no significant influence is exercised are valued at their cost price or lower 
market value. 
Due to the predominantly non-current nature deferred tax receivables are presented separately under financial fixed 
assets. 

impairments
Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment if events or changed circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. If a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount is assessed by reference to the 
net present value of expected future cashflows of the relevant income generating unit or disposal value, if higher. If 
an asset is impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to the estimated recoverable amount.

inventories
Trade inventories and inventories of raw materials, semi-finished products, finished products, supplies and packaging 
materials are stated at the lower of historical cost or market value. Inventory is valued using the fifo (first-in, first-
out) method. The value of semi-finished products and finished products includes the cost of raw materials, direct pro-
duction costs and, if applicable, allocated indirect production costs such as maintenance, production planning and 
manufacturing overhead. If necessary, provisions for inventory obsolescence and anticipated extraordinary declines in 
value are deducted.
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securities (current assets)
Marketable securities listed on a stock exchange are included at their market value. Changes in market value in any 
year are included in the profit and loss account.

provisions
Provisions have been made for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount which are expected to result in a cash out-
flow. Provisions are stated at nominal value except for pensions and early retirement provisions which are stated at 
present value using actuarial assumptions.

income taxes
Income taxes are calculated on the basis of tax regulations applicable in the countries of operation.
Deferred income taxes, arising from differences between the tax valuation and the commercial valuation of assets and 
liabilities, are recorded on the balance sheet to the extent that such deferred taxation will be payable or recoverable 
in the future. Deferred tax balances are based upon the nominal rates effective in the various countries concerned. 
Deferred tax assets, including those resulting from tax loss carry forwards, are recognized to the extent that it is 
reasonable to assume that they will be recovered.
Deferred tax liabilities on future dividends from foreign group companies are recognized unless the distribution of 
dividend is not being considered.
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Consolidated income statement
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise

    notes    2002    2001

      

net sales   1    2,829.6    3,967.9
Raw materials and supplies     1,872.2    2,623.0  
Personnel expenses   2 435.8     563.9  
Amortization of intangible fixed assets  6  9.2     4.3 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7 40.7     54.2 
Write-off erp-system including related costs   23.6  –
Other income and expenses  3 418.7  602.2 
       
operating expenses       2,800.2    3,847.6
      
operating result   1   29.4     120.3
Interest income     4.2    7.0  
Interest expenses     (20.2)   (39.5)  
     
Financial income and expenses, net       (16.0)   (32.5)
       
income from ordinary activities before taxes   13.4  87.8
Taxes on income from ordinary activities   4   (2.5)     (25.7)
Income from participations       1.5    12.9
Minority interest    (1.1)    (0.8)
        
income from ordinary activities after taxes    11.3  74.2
Extraordinary income   5 114.7    266.0  
Extraordinary expenses   5 (19.1)    (74.4)
Taxes on extraordinary income and expenses     (5.5)    (26.8)  
       
       90.1    164.8
      
net income       101.4    239.0
       

net income per share (in euro)                                  
Net income from ordinary activities       0.16    0.89
Diluted earnings from ordinary activities      0.16     0.89
Net income    1.44   2.86
Diluted earnings       1.44    2.86
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Consolidated balance sheet as of December 31
after appropriation of 2002 net income, in millions euro

 notes  2002  2001

   

fixed assets      
intangible fixed assets  6 132.9   101.2

property, plant and equipment      
Land and buildings   97.6   117.0
Machinery and equipment   114.7   163.5
Other   32.1   46.1
   
 7 244.4  326.6

financial fixed assets  8 85.0  96.0
       
   462.3 523.8
   
current assets      
Inventories  9 333.2   362.4
Accounts receivable and
prepayments  10 342.5   445.3
Securities   –   14.0
Cash  11 55.8  40.6
   
   731.5 862.3
    
   1,193.8   1,386.1
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 notes  2002  2001

   

shareholders’ equity      
Share capital   72.6   72.6
Paid-in surplus   99.7   99.9
Other reserves   436.9   413.6
   
 12  609.2   586.1
Minority interest    3.5  3.3
   
group equity    612.7  589.4
   
provisions  13  56.9  55.2
   
long-term liabilities  14  155.7 180.7
    
current liabilities      
Banks    0.6  111.7
Accounts payable    181.8  235.9
Accrued expenses and other 
liabilities 15 186.1 213.2
    
   368.5 560.8
    
  1,193.8 1,386.1
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
in millions euro

    2002  2001

   

operating activities                                             
Net income from ordinary activities after taxes 11.3   74.2
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  40.7  54.2
Amortization of intangible fixed assets   9.2  4.3
Write-off erp-system   21.0  –
   
   82.2  132.7
changes in  

Inventories   (33.7)  13.5
Accounts receivable and prepayments   25.0  (20.2)
Deferred tax assets   (0.4)  0.7
Accounts payable, accrued 

 expenses and other current liabilities   (9.3) (5.6) 
Provisions    0.1 15.6

Income from participating interests   (1.5) (12.9) 
Minority interest   0.2  0.8
Dividends received from participating 
interests   5.9  9.2
Extraordinary results after taxes (excluding 
result on disposals)  (17.2) (30.2)
     
Cash flow from operating activities   51.3  103.6
    
investing activities                                 
Purchase of property, plant & equipment   (42.3)  (85.6)
Disposal of property, plant & equipment   0.7  3.0
Financial fixed assets, continuing activities   (1.6)  (0.9)
Purchase price acquisitions   (45.6) (137.2)
Divestments of subsidiaries and other 
participations  195.2 742.6
       
Cash flow from investing and divesting 
activities    106.4 521.9
    
financing activities                                
Long-term liabilities   3.7 (7.3)
Short-term financing    (66.9) (401.6)
Dividends paid    (40.9) (49.1)
Issue of shares   –  3.8
Purchase of own shares and capital reduction  (3.3)  (139.8)
   
Cash flow from financing activities   (107.4)  (594.0)
   
Change in cash   50.3  31.5
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Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows
in millions euro

The accounting principles applied are set forth on pages 38 through 40.

The cash flow can best be explained by the following schedule:

  Balance sheet Exchange rate   Autonomous
  movements differences Acquisitions Divestments movements

      

movements in working capital          
Inventories   (29.2) 39.1  (3.3)  27.1  33.7 
Accounts receivable and prepayments   (116.8)  32.3  (7.4) 66.9  (25.0)
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other 
current liabilities*   80.7  (22.5)  15.9  (64.8)  9.3
      

          
   (65.3) 48.9 5.2 29.2 18.0
      
  
movements in provisions   (1.7) (4.1) – 5.7 (0.1)
       
 
movements in financing and banks
Long-term liabilities   25.0  (28.7) –  –  (3.7) 
Bank overdrafts   111.1  (44.4)  –  –  66.7
Current portion of long-term debts   0.5 (0.3)  – – 0.2
      

  136.6 (73.4)  – – 63.2
      

The change in cash can be explained as follows:
Banks   15.2 27.0 (0.5) 8.6 50.3
        

     
* Excluding current portion long-term debt for 0.5. 

The other balance sheet movements are explained in the notes to the specific balance sheet accounts.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise

The accounting principles applied are set forth on pages 38 through 40.

acquisitions
In 2002 Wessanen acquired Kallo Foods Ltd. at 20 July for an amount of 27.9, Nature’s Store Ltd. at 4 March for an amount 
of 11.0 and bec Trading Ltd. at 21 March for an amount of 2.9.
For above-mentioned companies Wessanen acquired a 100% share and the companies are consolidated as of the respective 
dates of acquisition.

disposal of activities
In September 2002 an agreement was reached with regard to the sale of the European dairy activities (Leerdammer 
Company) to Fromageries Bel s.a., Paris, in France for the sale price of 190.0. The transaction was completed on December 
2, 2002, when it appeared that the anti-trust authorities would not object to the transaction. The gain on the sale of 110.0 
after taxes is classified as extraordinary income.

The European dairy activities used to be reported by Wessanen as a separate segment. The sale of these activities has an 
important impact on the consolidated income, expenses, assets, liabilities and cash flow, as specified below.

  Dairy     Dairy  
 Europe   Europe

 2002   2001

    

net sales  253.1   292.3 
Total expenses  245.3   291.2 
    

operating income  7.8   1.1 
Financial income and expenses  (1.3)   (1.1) 
   

income from ordinary 
activities 6.5    –
Income taxes  (2.1)   (1.5) 
   

net income from ordinary 
activities* 4.4   (1.5)
           
   
total assets  –   180.0
total liabilities –   107.0
            
cash flow from            
Operating activities   14.2  18.1
Investing activities  (2.8)  (3.9)
Financing activities   (32.2)  (37.4)

* excluding income from participations and minority interests.
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1. financial information by segments
The company’s activities are carried out through four separate business segments: Natural & Specialty Foods 
Europe, Natural & Specialty Foods North America, Cereals and Convenience Food. The most important financial data 
regarding these segments are given below. 

         
    Net sales  Operating result ebita bei***  Operating assets
     2002  2001 2002  2001*  2002  2001  2002  2001*

           

Natural & Specialty Foods Europe 407.4   343.5  17.2  16.6 23.9  19.6 268.6   216.4
Natural & Specialty Foods 
North America   1,769.1  1,907.0  (4.6)**  54.5 20.8   55.5 554.5   618.4
Cereals    236.6  231.1 8.5   11.6  9.2  11.9 126.4   144.9
Convenience Food    163.4  162.4 10.0   7.7 10.0   7.7 79.5   83.3
Dairy Europe    253.1  292.3  7.8  1.1 7.8  1.1  – 142.2
Sold activities    –  1,031.6 –  35.5 –   35.5 –   –
Non-allocated   –   – (9.5) (6.7) (9.5) (6.7) 164.8 180.9
           

Total   2,829.6   3,967.9 29.4   120.3 62.2   124.6 1,193.8   1,386.1
           

        

    Operational  Depreciation Investments in Average number 
    liabilities ifa and pp&e ifa and pp&e of employees
     2002  2001*  2002  2001*  2002  2001*  2002  2001

           

Natural & Specialty Foods Europe  99.2   84.2  10.3  6.5 51.4  86.2 2,330   1,959
Natural & Specialty Foods 
North America   144.0  173.7 14.8  13.1 19.4   63.2 5,924   6,489
Cereals    58.4  49.0 13.1   12.2  6.2  18.3 1,213   1,328
Convenience Food    27.4  30.6 5.6   5.5 6.0   3.4 941   904
Dairy Europe    –  74.5  6.1  6.9  2.8  3.9  600 710
Sold activities    –  – –  14.3 –   13.1 –   5.667
Non-allocated   252.1   384.7 – – – – 62 57
           

Total   581.1   796.7 49.9   58.5 85.8   188.1 11,070   17,114
           

The segment information above relates to the operating activities of the respective segments. Non-operating results, 
assets and liabilities such as financing and tax-related items have not been allocated to segments.

* Adjusted for comparison purposes:

 This segmental analysis includes two restatements compared with the 2001 annual accounts:

 - goodwill and amortization of goodwill are now allocated to the relevant segments; in 2001 these were reported under non-allocated.

 - the activities of Golden Foods International, which were sold in December 2001, are reported under sold activities. In 2001 these were 

  reported under Convenience Food. Net sales and operating results in 2001 were 79.5 and 12.2 respectively.

** Including write-off erp-system and related costs of 23.6

*** Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Amortization of goodwill and Before Exceptional Items
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geographic segments
The geographic analysis of net sales is based upon the location of the customers. The geographic analyses of operating 
assets and capital expenditures are based upon the location of the assets.    

   Investments in
 Net sales Operating assets ifa and pp&e
 2002 2001 2002 2001* 2002 2001*

      
The Netherlands 137.0 150.0 107.2  220.4  6.9 40.6
Other European countries        922.1 917.1 391.5  407.0 57.9  70.8
U.S.A. and Canada   1,770.1 2,859.7 554.1  616.6 21.0  76.3
Other countries                         0.4 41.1  – 5.5  – 0.4
Not allocated                  –  – 141.0 136.6 – –
      
Total          2,829.6 3,967.9 1,193.8  1,386.1  85.8  188.1
      

* Comparatives 2001 have been adjusted for the allocation of goodwill.

2. personnel expenses
    2002  2001

   

Wages and salaries   335.9  441.1
Social security charges   82.9  103.7
Pension costs   17.0  19.1
   

    435.8  563.9
   

Pension costs are mainly charged by pension funds and are based on actuarial calculations.
The average number of employees in 2002 amounted to 11,070 (2001: 17,114).
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board remuneration
The remuneration for the members and former members of the Board was as follows: 

executive board

          Deferred    

    Salary   Bonus  remuneration  Total
  2002  2001  2002  2001  2002  2001   2002  2001**

         

A.M. Zondervan  450 436 – 227   317 990*  767  1,653 
N.J.M. Kramer 285  264 –  192  61  103   346 559 
R.A. Thorne 789 796 – 200 46 68 835 1,064
         

  1,524 1,496 – 619 424 1,161 1,948 3,276
         

                                                                           
* Including a non-recurring charge for pension adjustments of 850.

** Excluding compulsory social security charges.

The bonus depends on the increase of the ordinary profit per share in the calender year. The bonuses as mentioned in 
2001 are the bonuses paid in this year based on the performance in 2000.

supervisory board

   Fixed   Other   Total
  2002  2001  2002  2001  2002  2001

      

K.J. Storm 34  25  4  3  38  28 
H. Wiegel 25  25  3  3  28  28 
J.A.N. van Dijk  25 25  3  3  28  28 
F.H.J. Koffrie (from 1.4.2001) 25  19  3  2  28  21 
O.H.A. van Rooijen (till 1.4.2001) –  6  –  1  –  7
G. van Schaik (till 3.4.2002) 9 37 1 4 10 41
      

 118 137 14 16 132 153
       

At the end of 2002 the members and former members of the Executive Board possessed 542,500 option rights on shares 
(end of 2001: 602,500) with a weighted average exercise price of eur 12.11 (end of 2001: eur 13.51). The members of the 
Supervisory Board do not possess share options.

No loans, advances or related guarantees were provided to the Executive Board or the Supervisory Board.
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The movements in the option rights with a nominal value of eur 1.00 in the company capital which have been 
granted to the current and former members of the Executive Board are as follows:

   Balance     Balance Exercise price To be exer-
 year end  Granted  Exercised  Expired   year end  (in euro)   cised before

       

A.M. Zondervan              
1997  40,000  –  –  40,000  – 15.38  –
1998  37,500  –  –  – 37,500  15.11  March 2003
1999  35,000  –  –  – 35,000   11.90  Aug. 2004
2000  40,000  –  –  – 40,000   10.00 April 2005
2001  50,000  –  –  – 50,000   12.75  April 2006
2002  –  40,000  –  – 40,000   9.25  April 2010
N.J.M. Kramer              
2000  30,000 –   –  – 30,000   10.00  April 2005
2001  40,000 –   –  – 40,000  12.75  April 2006
2002 –  32,500  –  – 32,500   9.25  April 2010
R.A. Thorne              
1997  30,000  –  –  30,000 –  15.38  – 
1998  27,500  –  –  – 27,500   15.11  March 2003
1999  25,000  –  –  – 25,000   11.90  Aug.2004
2000  30,000  –  –  – 30,000   10.00  April 2005
2001  40,000  –  –  – 40,000   12.75  April 2006
2002  –  32,500  –  – 32,500   9.25  April 2010
Former members of the Executive Board            
1997  95,000  –  –  95,000 –  15.38  – 
1998  82,500  –  –  – 82,500   15.11  March 2003
     
  602,500  105,000  – 165,000 542,500
          
                                                                                        
3. other income and expenses    2002  2001

    

Selling, advertising and promotion costs    157.8  201.6
Delivery excluding personnel costs    132.4  193.9
Other    128.5  206.7
    

    418.7  602.2
    
 
4. taxes on income from ordinary activities
The taxes on income from ordinary activities were 2.5 (2001: 25.7) being 18.9% (2001: 29.3%). The most important com-
ponents of the tax expenses were as follows:
    2002  2001

    

Current tax expenses    8.3  17.1
Deferred taxation relating to temporary differences    (5.1) 7.6
Deferred taxation relating to tax loss carry forward    1.9 1.5
Other    (2.6) (0.5)
    

Total    2.5  25.7
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The operating activities are subject to income taxes in various countries with tax rates between 30% and 52%. 
The reconciliation of the effective tax and the average tax in the various countries is as follows:

    2002  2001

   

Weighted average of legal tax rates*   46.3 % 39.0 %
Tax effects of:

 Utilization of unrecognized tax losses  (13.8 %) (1.8 %)
 Unrecognized tax losses for  the year  7.0 %  1.6 %
 Non-deductible amortization of goodwill  16.7 %  1.7 %
 Non-deductible expenses and tax exempt    

 income   (1.9 %) (1.9 %)
 Group financing income  (31.0 %) (3.9 %)
 Other  (4.4 %)  (5.4 %) 

   

Effective tax rate   18.9 %  29.3 %
   

For operating companies the potential tax effect on the tax loss carry forward for an amount of 6.7 has not been 
recognized.

* The weighted average legal tax rate is based on the net result from ordinary activities before taxes at the legal tax rate in the various 

countries.

5. extraordinary income
Extraordinary income mainly relates to the book gain on the sale of the European Dairy companies.  

5. extraordinary expenses
The extraordinary expenses mainly relate to restructuring costs for the Cereals group and for the Natural and 
Specialty group North America.

earnings per share (eps)
The eps-figures are calculated by dividing the relevant profit amount by the weighted average number of outstanding 
shares. In the calculation of these eps-figures the applicable income figures and the weighted average number of out-
standing shares are adjusted for the effect of the potential execution of the employee stock options.
As the share price at the end of 2002 was lower than the execution prices of all option series, there is no difference 
between the calculations of the normal eps and the diluted eps.

income statement of the company
Pursuant to Article 402, Title 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the income from participations is presented separately 
in the company’s income statement.
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31
After appropriation of 2002 net income, in millions euro

fixed assets

6. intangible fixed assets
The movements of the intangible fixed assets, consisting of the goodwill paid on acquisitions after 2000 are:

  2002 2001

   
Net book value previous year  101.2 –
Translation adjustments  (2.6) –
Paid during the year  43.5 105.5
Amortization of the year  (9.2) (4.3)
   
Net book value at year end  132.9 101.2
Cumulative amortization  13.5 4.3
   
Historical goodwill value  146.4 105.5
   

7. property, plant and equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment during 2002 are specified as follows:

  Machinery  Under con- 
 Land and  and  struction and Total  Total 
 buildings equipment Other prepayments 2002 2001

      

Net book value previous
year 117.0 163.5 34.4 11.7 326.6 442.0
Translation adjustments (7.0) (12.0) (3.7) (0.9) (23.6) 13.5
Investments  9.1 17.1 6.4 9.7 42.3 85.6
Disposal of assets (0.7) – – –  (0.7) (3.0)
Acquisitions/divestments (14.4) (20.8) (1.9) (1.4) (38.5) (157.3)
Completed constructions 0.3 4.4 – (4.7) – –
Depreciation (6.7) (26.4) (7.6) – (40.7) (54.2)
Write-off erp-system – (11.1) (9.9) – (21.0) –
      

Net book value at year end 97.6 114.7 17.7 14.4 244.4 326.6
Accumulated depreciation 38.4 94.4 6.1 – 138.9 200.7
      

Historical cost 136.0 209.1 23.8 14.4 383.3 527.3
      

The property, plant and equipment include capital leases for an amount of 13.5. 
For this amount Wessanen has no legal ownership.
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8. financial fixed assets
Movements in financial fixed assets are as follows:
                                                      

    Other  Total
   Deferred tax  long-term financial 
  Participations receivables receivables  fixed assets

     

Net book value previous year  15.9 66.4 13.7 96.0
Income from participations  1.5 – – 1.5
Dividends received  (5.9) – – (5.9)
Movements due to acquisitions  – 0.1 – 0.1
Additions  – 2.9 10.6 13.5
Divestments  (2.3) 3.1 – 0.8
Translation adjustments  1.0 (8.6) (1.9) (9.5)
Loans repayment  – – (6.7) (6.7)
Other movements  (2.3) (2.5) – (4.8)
      
Net book value at year end  7.9 61.4 15.7 85.0
     

The deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets comprise of:

  2002 2001

   

Tax deductible goodwill  46.1 51.0
Depreciation differences on property, 
plant and equipment  (13.3) (22.1)
Provisions  11.2 17.5
Loss carry forward  12.0 13.9
Other tax differences  2.9 4.3
   

  58.9 64.6
   

Classified as deferred tax receivables  61.4 66.4
Classified as deferred tax liabilities  2.5 1.8

Other long-term receivables relate mainly to loans. The fair value of the loans is approximately equal to the 
book value.
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current assets

9. inventories  2002 2001

     
Trade inventories, finished products  308.5 312.0
Raw materials and supplies  21.9 28.9
Semi-finished products  0.8 19.6
Prepayments on inventories  2.0 1.9
   

  333.2 362.4
   

10. accounts receivable and prepayments  2002 2001

     
Trade receivables  277.1 361.6
Other accounts receivable and prepayments  65.4 83.7
   

  342.5 445.3
   

11. cash  2002 2001

     
Deposit  20.0 –
Banks and cash  35.8 40.6
   

  55.8 40.6
   

Highly liquid short-term deposits are defined as cash. These are recorded at nominal value.

12. shareholders’ equity  2002 2001

   

Balance at beginning year  586.1 473.1
Net income  101.4 239.0
Translation adjustments  (33.4) 2.0
Goodwill on acquisition before 2001  (1.6) 51.0
Reduction share capital  – (134.0)
Purchase of own shares for stock options  (3.3) (5.8)
Dividend  (39.8) (43.0)
Increase resulting from the 
exercise of stock options  – 3.8
Other  (0.2) –
   

Balance at year end  609.2 586.1
   

For further information see notes to the unconsolidated financial statements of the company.
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13. provisions  2002 2001

   
Deferred tax liabilities  2.5 1.8
Pensions and early retirement  7.5 4.9
Reorganizations  27.1 31.6
Other provisions  19.8 16.9
   
  56.9 55.2
   

Provisions for deferred taxes and pension and early retirement commitments are primarily of a long-term nature.
The provision for pensions and early retirement relates to obligations not vested in or by the company’s pension 
funds or industry pension funds. All other pension commitments are covered by the company’s pension funds or 
industry pension funds. 

Reorganization provisions are mainly of a short-term nature. 

Other provisions are mainly for contract risks and claims and are predominantly of a short-term nature. 

Provisions related to specific assets are deducted from the carrying amount of those assets.

Movements in the provisions during 2002 were as follows:

  Pensions 
  and early Reorganiza- Other 
  retirements tions provisions

    

Balance at beginning year  4.9 31.6 16.9
Additions charged against income   4.7 12.1 12.3
Expenses during the year  (0.4) (12.9) (0.3)
Divestments  (0.9) – (1.6)
Release of prior year provisions  (0.8) – (7.2)
Translation adjustments  – (3.7) (0.3)
    

Balance at year end  7.5 27.1 19.8
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14. long-term liabilities
The composition of the long-term liabilities and their maturity is as follows:

 Amount outstanding Maturing after 5 years
  2002 2001 2002 2001

     

Amounts owed to credit institutions                      
Fixed interest rates  0.1 – – –
Floating interest rates  – 0.2 – –

Liabilities relating to capital lease     
Fixed interest rates  15.9 20.4 – 1.6
Floating interest rates  2.1 2.5 0.8 1.1

Other interest bearing liabilities     
Fixed interest rates  131.4 155.1 – 0.2
Floating interest rates  6.2 2.5 – 2.1

     

  155.7 180.7 0.8 5.0
     

A private placement of usd 136.0 (eur 129.8) with an interest rate of 7.9% is included in the other interest bearing 
liabilities. Payments due in 2003 are included in current liabilities.

The weighted average maturity of loans outstanding as of December 31, 2002, is 2.3 years (2001: 3.5 years) and the 
average interest rate is 7.8% (2001: 7.8%).

15. accrued expenses and other liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities consist of amounts due within one year and are specified as follows:

  2002 2001

   

Current portion of long-term liabilities  3.5 4.0
Income tax liabilities   15.0 16.1
Other tax liabilities and social securities 
payable  9.4 5.0
Pensions payable  3.5 2.8
Dividends payable  30.2 31.2
Other accrued expenses and other liabilities  124.5 154.1
   

  186.1 213.2
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financial instruments
Summarized below is additional information about the primary financial instruments and derivatives that are used 
to manage foreign exchange and interest rate risks.

foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange instruments are used to limit currency exposure. Apart from covering existing foreign exchange 
positions, foreign exchange instruments are also used to hedge future positions that are likely to materialize, e.g. 
the purchase of raw materials and the sale of products in export markets, but also certain anticipated incidental 
transactions. These foreign exchange exposures are covered through currency options and forward contracts. 

At year-end 2002 the outstanding amounts on foreign currency purchase and sell contracts related to operational 
activities were 1.0 and 14.8 respectively. The purchase and sell contracts relate mainly to gbp and chf against the euro  
for 9.5 and 3.6 respectively. At the end of 2002 the market value of the forward contracts represents an unrealized 
gain of 0.4. At the end of 2002 currency options relating to purchase contracts amounting to 1.2 were outstanding, 
with an unrealized gain of 0.0.

The translation exposure relating to the net investment in foreign group companies and the related long-term group 
financing is not hedged.

interest rate risk
The company policy is to finance the fixed assets and a part of the current assets with equity and long-term fixed rate 
debt. The remainder of current assets is financed by short-term debt such as short-term borrowings with floating 
interest rates. In order to manage the interest risk rates the company has the possibility to enter into swap contracts 
and Forward Rate Agreements (fra’s). 

credit risk
The credit risk related to operational activities consists of the loss that would occur if counterparties do not honor 
their contractual obligations. The company’s activities involve the distribution, marketing and production of food 
products primarily in partnership with retail customers. As a consequence, a concentration of credit risk exists in the 
supermarket channel. With regard to financial transactions it is the company’s policy to trade only with reliable and 
solid financial institutions, which reduces the risk of counterparties being unable to meet their contractual obliga-
tions. The maximum credit risk as at December 31, 2002, for on-balance sheet instruments is equal to the book value. 
The maximum credit risk as at December 31, 2002, for off-balance sheet instruments is minimal. 
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fair value of financial assets and liabilities
There are no important variances between the fair value of financial assets and liabilities apart from the balance sheet 
item below:

     

   Fair value Carrying amount
  2002 2001 2002 2001

     

Long term liabilities  173.3 200.5 155.7 180.7

The fair value is calculated on the basis of the net present value of the expected future cash flows relating to these, 
discounted against a percentage between 1.6% and 4.8%.

contingent liabilities and commitments not included in the balance sheet
Total long-term rental and lease commitments amount to 137.8 (2001: 152.0) of which 31.1 is payable in 2003 and 24.3 
after 2007. The net present value of the future rental and lease payments is 116.5 (2001: 129.9) calculated at market 
interest rates.

With regard to non-consolidated participations no guarantees were issued.

Commitments to purchase property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2002, amounted to 0.1 (2001: 0.2).
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Income statement of the company
in millions euro

  2002 2001

   

Income from participations  106.7 240.6
Other income and expenses  (5.3) (1.6)
   

Net income after taxes  101.4 239.0
   

appropriation of net income*
  2002 2001

   

Transferred to reserves  61.6 196.0
Dividend  39.8 43.0
   

  101.4 239.0
   

* Appropriation of net income for 2002 is described on page 69.
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Balance sheet of the company as of December 31
After appropriation of 2002 net income, in millions euro

  note 2002 2001

    

Financial fixed assets  1 643.4 735.4
Current assets  2 25.4 5.4
    

   668.8 740.8
    

   2002 2001

    

Shareholders’ equity   3 609.2 586.1
Current liabilities  4 59.6 154.7
    

   668.8 740.8
    



60 61Annual Report 2002 Notes to the 2002 company financial statements

Notes to the balance sheet of the company as of December 31
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise

The accounting principles on pages 38 through 40 and the consolidated financial statements on pages 41 through 58 
form an integral part of these notes.

1. financial fixed assets (investments in group companies)
  2002 2001

   

Balance at beginning year  735.4 552.0
Net income  106.7 240.6
Goodwill   (1.6) 51.0
Translation adjustments  (33.4) 2.0
Dividend  (167.0) (145.0)
Capital increase  – 35.0
Other movements  3.3 (0.2)
   

Balance at year end  643.4 735.4
   

Investments in group companies are stated at net asset value, which is determined on the basis of the company’s 
accounting principles as described on pages 38 through 40.

2. current assets
  2002 2001

   

Receivables from group companies  7.4 3.3
Tax receivable  16.6 –
Other receivables  1.4 2.1
   

  25.4 5.4
   

3. shareholders’ equity
  2002 2001

   

Share capital  72.6 72.6
Paid-in capital  99.7 99.9
Translation adjustments reserve  34.6 68.0
Legal reserve  2.4 6.0
Other reserves  399.9 339.6
   

  609.2 586.1
   

Exchange rate differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign group companies and 
related foreign currency borrowings are recorded as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.
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share capital
  2002 2001

   

Balance at beginning year  72.6 78.7
Redenomination share capital  – 8.0
Transfer from paid-in capital  – 66.1
Repayment of share capital  – (74.2)
Purchase and cancellation of shares  – (6.0)
    

Balance at year end  72.6 72.6
   

The number of eur 1.00 par value common shares issued and outstanding at 31 December, 2002, amounted to 
72,588,501 (2001: 72,588,501).
The members of the Executive Board do not own any common shares or depositary receipts in the company.

paid-in capital
  2002 2001

   

Balance at beginning year  99.9 166.3
Transferred to share capital  – (66.1)
Other movements  (0.2) (0.3)
   

Balance at year end   99.7 99.9
   

All of the paid-in capital is distributable.

translation adjustments reserve
  2002 2001

   

Balance at beginning year  68.0 66.0
Realized on divestments  – (13.1)
Movements in current year  (33.4) 15.1
   

Balance at year end  34.6 68.0
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legal reserve  2002 2001

   

Balance at beginning year  6.0 67.1
Released by sale of Davide Campari-Milano  (3.6) (65.8)
Transfer from the other reserves   – 4.7
   

Balance at year end  2.4 6.0
   

other reserves  2002 2001

   

Balance at beginning year  339.6 95.0
Redenomination of share capital  – (8.0)
Net income  101.4 239.0
Goodwill on acquisitions before 2001  (1.6) 51.0
Reduction share capital  – (53.5)
Purchase of own shares (net)  (3.3) (5.8)
Dividend  (39.8) (43.0)
Exercised employee options  – 3.8
Release legal reserve 
by sale of Davide Campari-Milano  3.6 65.8
Transfer to the legal reserve  – (4.7)
   

Balance at year end  399.9 339.6
   

stock option plan
The company has a stock option plan, whereby each option represents one share. The plan has been set up to increase 
the employees’ commitment to the company.
Options have been granted to over 400 employees (2001: 400 employees) at the market price prevailing at the time 
the options were granted. The employee options can be excercised after three years and lapse after eight years or 
upon earlier departure of the employee.
The options granted until 2001 could be directly exercised and lapse after five years or upon earlier departure of the 
employee.

wessanen code of conduct
The participants to the stock option plan are bound by regulations in order to prevent the abuse of insider 
information.

purchase of own shares
To prevent dilution of earnings per share due to the exercise of stock options, 357,695 shares were purchased in 2002 
for 3.3. The purchase costs were deducted from other reserves.
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As of 2002 year end the following number of options were outstanding:

      Exercise To be
  Balance Granted    Balance  price exercised 
 year end in 2002 Exercised Expired year end in euro  before

       

executive board* 602,500  105,000 – 165,000 542,500  
including      

former members

other employees       
April 1997 262,825 – – 262,825 –       
March 1998 375,625 – – 9,250 366,375      15.11 March 2003
August 1999 217,960 – – 12,800 205,160      11.90 August 2004  
April 2000 284,505 – – 11,775 272,730      10.00 April 2005
April 2001 439,000 – – 5,325 433,675      12.75 April 2006
May 2001 47,775 – – – 47,775      14.05 May 2006
April 2002 – 518,755 – 3,080 515,675        9.25 April 2010
      

 1,627,690 518,755 – 305,055 1,841,390  
      

Total 2,230,190 623,755 – 470,055 2,383,890  
      

* Breakdown on page 50.

If all stock options are exercised, shareholders’ equity will increase by 28.2 (2001: 29.6). 

The movements of shares held against stock options are:

Balance at the beginning of the year  2,043,475 shares
Balance of purchased and sold shares  357,695 shares
  
Balance at year end  2,401,170 shares
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4. current liabilities
  2002 2001

   

Dividends payable  30.2 31.2
Liabilities to group companies  28.5 119.5
Other liabilities  0.9 4.0
   

  59.6 154.7
   

Current liabilities are due within one year.

contingent liabilities and commitments not included in the balance sheet
The company has assumed liability for debts of group companies, up to a total of 163.0 (2001: 278.0). The related 
guaranteed debts are included in the consolidated balance sheet for an amount of 163.0  (2001: 278.0).

The company has also assumed liability for the Dutch group companies of which the financial statements have been 
included in the consolidated financial statements, as provided for in Article 403, sub 1, Title 9, Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code. This implies that these group companies are not required to prepare their financial statements in every 
respect in accordance with Title 9 of Book 2 or to publish these.

February 20, 2003, Amstelveen

supervisory board                                                    
K.J. Storm, Chairman                                                  
H. Wiegel, Vice-Chairman                                          
J.A.N. van Dijk                                                              
F.H.J. Koffrie

executive board
A.M. Zondervan, Chairman
N.J.M. Kramer
R.A. Thorne
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Additional information
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Auditors’ report

introduction
We have audited the financial statements of Koninklijke Wessanen nv, Amstelveen, the 
Netherlands, for the year 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit.

scope
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
Netherlands. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-
able assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting princi-
ples used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the company as at December 31, 2002, and of the result for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Netherlands and comply 
with the financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands 
Civil Code.

Amstelveen, February 20, 2003

kpmg Accountants n.v.
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Appropriation of 2002 net income
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise

From the net income of 101.4 an amount of 61.6 will be transferred to the other reserves, 
after which 39.8 will be available for distribution.

The remaining amount is proposed to be paid to the holders of common shares as cash 
dividend of eur 0.58 per share.

If the General Meeting of Shareholders adopts the financial statements as presented, then 
the dividend for 2002 will be payable as follows: effective September 11, 2002 the interim 
dividend of eur 0.15 per share and effective April 16, 2003, the final dividend of eur 0.43.

Amstelveen, February 20, 2003

Executive Board

appropriation of net income as provided for by the articles of association
Article 31 of the company’s Articles of Association describes the following provisions with 
respect to the appropriation of net income:
1. Out of the income earned in the past financial year shall first be paid, if possible, a 

dividend on the preference shares (sub 1).
2. The Executive Board shall then, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, determine 

what part of the income remaining after the application of sub 1 is to be appropriated 
to reserves (sub 3).

3. The part of the income remaining after the appropriation to reserves shall be distri-
buted as dividend on the ordinary shares (sub 4).

4. If a loss is recorded in any year, no dividend shall be distributed for that year. No divi-
dend may be paid in subsequent years until the loss has been defrayed out of the 
income (sub 5).
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Special rights conferred by the Articles of 
Association in matters of control and the 
appropriation of net income
preferred stock
The remit of ‘Stichting Preferente Aandelen Koninklijke Wessanen’ shall be to safeguard 
the interests of Koninklijke Wessanen nv, public limited company with its headquarters in 
Amsterdam, hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’, the enterprise associated therewith 
and all concerned, whereby it shall resist as far as possible any influences which might 
prejudice, amongst others, the continuity, independence or the identity in a manner that 
is contrary to the said interests. The Trust shall perform its remit by acquiring preference 
and other shares in Koninklijke Wessanen nv and by exercising the rights attached 
thereto. The transfer, encumbrance or disposal of shares in any other manner fall outside 
this remit, with the exception of transfer to the Company itself or to a group designated 
by and associated with the Company, and cooperation in the repayment on and with-
drawal of shares.

Two agreements have been reached with the Trust on the issue of preferred stock. As at 
the balance sheet date no preferred stock had been issued.
The Trust Board has five members, three ‘a’ members and two ‘b’ members.
The ‘a’ members are appointed by the Trust Board; the ‘b’ members are appointed by the 
Supervisory Board of the Company.
The ‘a’ members are Messrs N.J. Westdijk, J.M.M. Maeijer and P. Bouw.
The ‘b’ members are Messrs K.J. Storm and A.M. Zondervan. According to the schedule 
Mr. Zondervan is due to resign this year as a ‘b’ member. He will not be eligible for 
reappointment.

The Company and the Trust Board are agreed that the Trust is independent of the 
Company as contemplated by Annex X of the Trust Regulations of Euronext 
Amsterdam n.v., Amsterdam.                  

Amsterdam, January 31, 2003

Koninklijke Wessanen nv
Stichting Preferente Aandelen Koninklijke Wessanen



70 71Annual Report 2002 Additional information

Shareholders’ information

Shares of Koninklijke Wessanen nv with a nominal value of eur 1.00 are quoted on the 
Amsterdam stock exchange. Sponsored adr’s are traded in the United States.

key dates
April 2, 2003                           Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
April 4, 2003                           Ex-dividend share price
April 16, 2003                         Final dividend 2002
May 14, 2003                          Publication of the results for the 1st quarter, 2003
August 27, 2003                      Publication of the half-year results, 2003
September 9, 2003                 Interim dividend, 2003
November 21, 2003                Publication of the results for the 3rd quarter, 2003
February 18, 2004                  Publication of the annual results 2003
March 31, 2004                       Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

In 2003 meetings will be organized for analysts and investors in the Netherlands and 
abroad.

earnings per share and the development of the share price
Earnings from ordinary activities before exceptional items and amortization of goodwill 
and the dividend per share developed as follows:

 Net  Highest Lowest Year end

in euro income Dividend share price share price share price

    

2002 0.51 0.58 10.30 6.20 6.60
2001 0.94 0.58 14.77 7.76 10.00
2000 1.16 0.58 15.00 9.20 13.15

The average volume traded over all trading days in 2002 was 94,568.

act on the disclosure of influence over listed companies
In accordance with the Act on the Disclosure of Influence over Listed Companies (1991) 
the company received a report from Delta Deelnemingen Fonds nv, Gouda, in 2002. 
The report concerned a capital interest of 5%. Other shareholders with an interest of 
more than 5% are ing Groep n.v., Commercial Union Assurance plc and Dexia Bank 
Nederland n.v.; Campina ua reported an interest of 10% or more.

investor relations and corporate development & communications
Timo de Grefte                            
Phone: +31 (0)20 547 95 29
Fax: +31 (0)20 547 95 01
E-mail: corporate.communications@wessanen-hq.com
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Condensed consolidated income statement
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise

  2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994 1993

           

net sales 2,829.6 3,967.9 3,933.8 3,016.0 2,620.1 2,534.7 2,130.4 2,098.9 2,242.6 2,171.5
Operating 
expenses (2,767.4) (3,843.3) (3,780.0) (2,895.5) (2,524.0) (2,393.4) (2,011.3) (1,968.0) (2,093.0) (2,045.3)
Amortization  
of ifa (9.2) (4.3) – – – – – – – –
           

operating
result before
exceptional
items 53.0 120.3 153.8 120.5 96.1 141.3 119.1 130.9 149.6 126.2

exceptional items (23.6) – – – – – – – – –
           

operating result 29.4 120.3 153.8 120.5 96.1 141.3 119.1 130.9 149.6 126.2

Financial 
income and 
expenses, net (16.0) (32.5) (38.5) (20.1) (24.5) (22.2) (15.2) (18.8) (8.5) (0.9)
           

Income from 
ordinary 
activities 
before taxes  13.4 87.8 115.3 100.4 71.6 119.1 103.9 112.1 141.1 125.3

Taxes (2.5) (25.7) (40.2) (39.0) (28.6) (43.9) (34.6) (36.3) (42.6) (38.5)
Income from parti-
cipations and 
minority interests 0.4 12.1 23.1 20.2 27.2 16.9 14.4 16.2 16.8 26.9
           

net income from 
ordinary
activities  11.3 74.2 98.2 81.6 70.2 92.1 83.7 92.0 115.3 113.7

net income from ordinary activities before exceptional items and 
amortization of ifa
  35.8 78.5 98.2 81.6 70.2 92.1 83.7 92.0 115.3 113.7

Extraordinary
income and expenses
after taxes 90.1 164.8 – – 69.1 – (9.0) 1.3 – (22.7)
           

Net income 101.4 239.0 98.2 81.6 139.3 92.1 74.7 93.3 115.3 91.0
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Condensed consolidated balance sheet
in millions euro, unless stated otherwise

  2002 2001 2000 1999 1998  1997 1996 1995 1994 1993

           

Current assets* 675.7 821.7 1,007.7 813.0 548.8 739.2 597.2 516.3 562.3 707.6
Current 
liabilities* 367.9 449.1 651.9 435.2 300.0 377.0 305.3 294.4 324.8 420.4
           

working 
capital 307.8 372.6 355.8 377.8 248.8 362.2 291.9 221.9 237.5 287.2

Fixed assets 462.3 523.8 734.0 661.2 535.9 537.6 528.8 512.8 528.1 459.7
           

Capital  
employed 770.1 896.4 1,089.8 1,039.0 784.7 899.8 820.7 734.7 765.6 746.9
           

Financed by:          
Group 

 equity 612.7 589.4 476.9 561.8 583.7 532.1 525.2 491.6 509.9 543.9
Provisions 56.9 55.2 37.8 39.3 52.5 55.6 60.0 74.3 73.1 87.3
Long-term 

 liabilities 155.7 180.7 192.0 253.9 145.9 115.8 101.7 87.8 125.7 91.5
 Short-term

 finance (55.2) 71.1 383.1 184.0 2.6 196.3 133.8 81.0 56.9 24.2
           

  770.1 896.4 1,089.8 1,039.0 784.7 899.8 820.7 734.7 765.6 746.9
            

shareholders’ equity
As a percen-

 tage of total
 assets 51.0% 42.3% 27.1% 37.6% 54.2% 40.8% 46.0% 47.4% 45.7% 45.6%

net income from ordinary activities before exceptional items and amortization of goodwill
As a percentage    
of the average 

 shareholders’  
  equity 6.7% 13.7% 18.8% 14.0% 12.8% 18.1% 16.4% 19.5% 22.2% 20.4% 

 Per share  
 (in euro) 0.51 0.94 1.16 0.95 0.82 1.08 1.01 1.13 1.44 1.39

* excluding short-term finance
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Addresses



76 77Annual Report 2002

the netherlands
     head office

Koninklijke Wessanen nv
Prof. E.M. Meijerslaan 2            
1183 av  Amstelveen                  
P.O. Box 410
1180 ak  Amstelveen
Phone: +31 (0)20 547 95 47
Fax: +31 (0)20 547 95 01
E-mail: info@wessanen-hq.com
Internet: www.wessanen.com

     natural & specialty foods
Tree of Life Europe
Zevenheuvelenweg 53–55
5048 an  Tilburg
Phone: +31 (0)13 465 71 00
Fax: +31 (0)13 465 71 20
E-mail: info@tol-europe.com

Boas bv
Stephensonstraat 40
2723 rn  Zoetermeer
Phone: +31 (0)79 344 26 00
Fax: +31 (0)79 331 01 61
E-mail: info@boas.nl
Internet: www.boas.nl

Natudis bv
Daltonstraat 38
3846 bx  Harderwijk
Phone: +31 (0)341 46 42 11
Fax: +31 (0)341 42 57 04
E-mail: info@natudis.nl
Internet: www.natudis.nl

     cereals
Dailycer bv
Zevenheuvelenweg 53–55
5048 an  Tilburg
Phone: +31 (0)13 462 55 25
Fax: +31 (0)13 463 08 05
E-mail: dailycer@wxs.nl
Internet: www.dailycer.com

Delicia bv
Zevenheuvelenweg 53-55                        
5048 an  Tilburg
Phone: +31 (0)13 462 55 25
Fax: +31 (0)13 463 08 05
E-mail: info@delicia-nl.com
Internet: www.delicia.nl

     convenience food
Beckers bv
Jules Verneweg 84
5015 bm  Tilburg
Phone: +31 (0)13 583 52 00
Fax: +31 (0)13 583 52 99
E-mail: info@beckers-nl.com
Internet: www.beckers.nl

brazil
     natural & specialty foods

Wessanen do Brasil Ltda                         
R. Santa Justina, 352
10° andar - cj. 101/102                                     
CEP 04545-041 Sao Paulo/SP     
Phone: +55 (0)11 38 42 67 42
Fax: +55 (0)11 38 42 08 92
E-mail: office@wessanen.com.br
Internet: www.wessanen.com.br

germany
     natural & specialty foods

Corposan Holding GmbH
Augustaplatz 4
76530 Baden-Baden 
Phone: +49 (0)7221 39 28 71
Fax: +49 (0)7221 94 01 85
E-mail: info@tartex.de
E-mail:corposan.holding@t-online.de
Internet: www.tartex.com        
Internet: www.allos.de

     convenience food
Gelderland Frischwaren GmbH              
Rotterdamerstrasse 8                               
46446 Emmerich/Rhein                                   
Phone: +49 (0)2822 60 30
Fax: +49 (0)2822 603 89
E-mail: post@gelderland.de
Internet: www.gelderland.de
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Beckers kk-Convenience GmbH
Marienstrasse 3
46325 Borken
Phone: +49 (0)2861 94 70
Fax: +49 (0)2861 94 72 22
E-mail: info@kk-convenience.de
Internet: www.kk-convenience.de

france
     natural & specialty foods

Distriborg Groupe sa
217, Chemin du Grand Revoyet                    
69561 Saint Genis Laval Cedex               
Phone: +33 (0)4 72 67 10 20
Fax: +33 (0)4 72 67 10 57
E-mail: info@distriborg.com
Internet: www.distriborg.com

     cereals
Dailycer                                                     
Aux Sentiers d’Etelfay
80500 Faverolles                                       
Phone: +33 (0)3 22 78 77 00
Fax: +33 (0)3 22 78 05 94
E-mail: info@dailycer-fr.com
Internet: www.dailycer.com

united kingdom
     natural & specialty foods

Kallo Foods Ltd.
Coopers Place
Combe Lane, Wormley
Godalming, Surrey GU8 5SZ
Phone: +44 (0)1428 685100
Fax: +44 (0)1428 685800
E-mail: marketing@kallofoods.com
Internet: www.kallofoods.com

Tree of Life UK Ltd.
Coaldale Road
Off Dalewood Road
Lymedale Business Park
Newcastle under Lyme
Staffordshire ST5 9QH
Phone: +44 (0)1782 567100
Fax: +44 (0)1782 567199
E-mail: info@tol-europe.com

     cereals
Dailycer Ltd                                
Halesfield 10                              
Telford, Shropshire TF7 4LY                    
Phone: +44 (0)1952 588777
Fax: +44 (0)1952 685955
E-mail: info@dailycer-uk.com
Internet: www.dailycer.com

usa
     head office

Wessanen usa                                           
405 Golfway West Drive
St. Augustine, FL 32095
Phone: +1 904 940 2400
Fax: +1 904 940 2410
Internet: www.wessanen.com

     natural & specialty foods
Tree of Life, Inc.
405 Golfway West Drive
St. Augustine, FL 32095
Phone: +1 904 940 2100 
Fax: +1 904 940 2553
E-mail: mailbox@treeoflife.com
Internet: www.treeoflife.com &
www.ans-natural.com

Gourmet Award Foods
405 Golfway West Drive
St. Augustine, FL 32095
Phone: +1 904 940 2100 
Fax: +1 904 940 2553
E-mail: mailbox@treeoflife.com
Internet: www.treeoflife.com 

American Natural & Specialty 
Brands 
405 Golfway West Drive
St. Augustine, FL  32095
Phone: +1 904 940 2100
Fax: +1 904 940 2334
E-mail: anscustsrv@ansbrands.com
Internet: www.ans-natural.com
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Liberty Richter 
400 Lyster Avenue
Saddle Brook, NJ 07663
Phone: +1 201 843 8900
Fax: +1 201 843 3575
E-mail: info@libertyrichter.com
Internet: www. libertyrichter.com

American Beverage Corporation
1 Daily Way       
Verona, PA 15147                                      
Phone: +1 412 8289020
Fax: +1 412 828 9195
E-mail: info@ambev.com
Internet: www.ambev.com & 
www.thepartymix.com

canada
     natural & specialty foods

Tree of Life / Gourmet Award Foods
Canada – East 
6030 Freemont Boulevard
Mississauga, Ontario L5R 3X4
Phone: +1 905 507 6161
Fax: +1 905 507 4357
E-mail: mailbox@treeoflife.com 
Internet: www.treeoflife.com

Tree of Life / Gourmet Award Foods
Canada – West
91 Glacier Street
Coquitlam, British Columbia,
Canada V3K 5Z1
Phone: +1 604 941 8502
Fax: +1 604 941 8509
E-mail: mailbox@treeoflife.com
Internet: www.treeoflife.com
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balanced scorecard
This is a method for presenting and communicating 
the kpi’s. It is split into 4 perspectives:
- Organization (development of vitality of the 

company)
- Internal processes (efficiency and innovation)
- Customers (progress and development of sales and 

customer relations)
- Financial (the results of the processes)

cfg
Convience Food Group, Wessanen’s European divi-
sion specializing in easy-to-prepare frozen snacks 
and meal components.

corporate governance
Corporate governance is the system by wich bussi-
ness corporations are directed and controlled.

cross-selling
Selling of successful product concepts in a new 
country.

cross-sourcing
Buying of simular products from one supplier in 
multiple countries.

csf
Critical Success Factor. We define critical success fac-
tors on the basis of our strategic plans. They consti-
tute essential elements in the implantation of our 
strategy. The CFSs are then translated into KPIs.
(See also Value Based Management and Balanced 
Scorecard).

currency options
A contract under which the buyer acquires the right 
to buy or sell the forreign currency at a fixed price 
before a specified date. 

dietary products
Dietary products are made for people with special 
dietary needs due to food allergies, food intolarance, 
weight problems etc.

ebit
Earnings before interest and tax; operating result.

ebita
Earnings before interest, tax, and amortization of 
goodwill.

ebitda
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amor-
tization of goodwill.

ebitda-interest ratio
ebitda divided by interest paid, expressed as a per-
centage.

economic premium
The income that is left after the required return for 
shareholders and the banks have been deducted 
from the ebita.

erp system
Enterprice Resource Planning. Software which sup-
ports the business processes by processing the infor-
mation flow regarding supply chain and financials.

executive performance contract
A steering instrument for assessing Wessanen’s manage-
ment. The epc consists of a Performance Commitment 
and a bonus incentive program and is linked to the Value 
Based Management system.

forward currency contracts
Purchase or sale of foreign currency at an exchange rate 
established now but with payment and delivery  (settle-
ment) at a specified future date.

forward interest rate contracts
Borrowing or lending of a deposit at a predetermined 
rate and for a  predeterminded period, established now, 
but with payment and settlement at a specified future 
date.

functional food
Functional Food contains specific supplementary ingre-
dients to increase the nutritional value, e.g. vitamins and 
minerals.

goodwill (historical)
Goodwill paid when a company is acquired

goodwill (computed)
Goodwill calculated based on the value of the company 
as derived from their long-term plans

interest  rate options
A contract under wich the buyer acquires the right to 
buy or sell the underlying bond or deposit at a fixed rate 
before a specified date.

kpi 
Key Preformance Indictor. Measurable units derived 
from the Critical Success Factors, wich enable us to pur-
sue our strategic goals. kpis from part of the Balanced 
Scorecard. (See also Value Based Management)

natural food
Natural food products contain no artificial additives and 
undergo very little or no processing

niche
A specialized market segment.

organic food
Organic products are made from ingredients wich are 
cultivated in a clean and environmentally-friendly man-
ner.

performance commitment
Individual goals of Wessanen managers wich form the 
basis for interim coaching, steering and the annual 
assessment. Part of the Executive Performance Contract.

remuneration and appointment committee
Committee of the Supervisory Board that assesses the 
Executive Board’s performance, salary structure, option 
regulations and pension scheme.

roi
Return on Investment. A measure of a corporation’s prof-
itability, equal to the annual income divided by common  
stock and preferred stock equity plus long-term debt.

Lexicon
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roic
Return on Invested Capital. The return on the total 
capital employed, including all goodwill payments 
in the past.

specialties
A product group with distinguishing features such 
as specific origins, special ingredients or some other 
form of exclusitivity.

supernaturals
National chains in the usa consisting of large profes-
sional stores specializing in natural and and organic 
food.

supply chain
The full trajectory followed by a product from the 
base (raw material) to the finished article.

synergies
Partnerships between the various Wessanen compa-
nies that create added value for the organization. 

tol europe
Tree of Life Europe, Wessanen’s European division, 
which focuses on niche products in the market for 
healthy, natural food and specialties.

tol na
Tree of Life North America, Wessanen’s largest 
group, which focuses on  niche products in the mar-
ket for  healthy, natural food and specialties.

treasury stock
Shares in the company’s portfolio that are used for 
stock option  purposes

value based management
A system which offers Wessanen’s management 
three strategic instruments so that they can respond 
swiftly to technological and social change, namely:
- A detailed system for strategic planning, which 

supports the formulation of concrete action-driven 
plans.

- A program that guarantees that capital is allo-
cated to projects that deliver value for the share-
holders.

- The Balanced Scorecard, which maintains the 
right balance  between short-term and long-term 
goals.

vegetarian food
Vegetarian products are made exclusively from vege-
table ingredients

wacc
Weighted Average Cost of Capital. The cost of debt 
and equity which indicates the minimum return 
that must be realized by all our operations.

wellness
A combination of the English words ‘well-being’ and 
‘fitness’. Wellness food stands for balance in nutri-
tional patterns: a combination of healthy, high 
quality, tasty food that is easy to prepare.


